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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of KML Technology
Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors of the Company, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this annual
report misleading.

This report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the
Company’s website at www.kml.com.hk.
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Chairman’s Statement
EREHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of KML Technology Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), |
am delighted to present the annual results of our Group for year ended 31
March 2019.

With regards to our financial performance for the year ended 31 March 2019
as compared with the year ended 31 March 2018, our revenue increased by
approximately HK$16.6 million, or approximately 8.6% from approximately
HK$194.0 million to approximately HK$210.6 million. The Group recorded a
net profit of approximately HK$19.3 million, representing a net profit margin
of approximately 9.2% for the year ended 31 March 2019 as compared to a
net loss of approximately HK$2.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2018.
By excluding the non-recurring listing expenses incurred at the year ended
31 March 2018 of approximately HK$15.8 million, the Group’s net profit for
that year would be approximately HK$13.7 million, representing a net profit
margin of 7.1%. Comparing our performance this year with last year, the
significant increase in net profit by 40.9% and net profit margin by 29.6%
respectively were mainly attributable to our improvement on productivity
and better cost management and control.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the overall market condition of
the electrical and mechanical (“E&M”) industry was relatively stable and
expected that the market will have mild and steady growth in the coming
years. On the contrary, in the e-Payment and m-Payment arena, the
business growth potential is on leaps and bounce. This year, we have
partnered with Octopus to design, develop, production and delivery of
wall-mounted kiosks for the Government’s Public Transport Fare Subsidy
Scheme. The scheme was successfully commenced in February 2019.
We also successfully partnered with AlipayHK to retrofit over 1,000 entry
and exit gates in the coming two years at MTR Stations to enable quick
response code (“QR Code”) payment for travelling on Hong Kong’s
MTR system. We have also been engaged to design and implement
multiple e-Payment including QR Code and Account-based fare collection
system enabled by credit cards or mobile Apps conforming to the EMV
specifications as an automatic fare collection (“AFC”) and ticketing
enhancement for the Taoyuan Airport MRT, Taiwan.

Looking ahead, despite the keen competition in the market as well as
increasingly stringent requirements from different stakeholders, the Board
is optimistic about the Group’s business growth especially in relation to
(i) opportunities to exploit our seasonal yet well-proven proprietary mobile
payment eco-system; (i) opportunities to participate grand scale renovation
and replacement of E&M, communication and AFC assets from one of our
major customers; and (i) emerging opportunities from overseas markets.
Under the cloud of imminent trade war between economic giants, the Board
anticipates that the economy for the year ended 31 March 2020 will be relatively
uncertain. Otherwise, it will have ample opportunities for our Group marching
to another milestone. The Group will continue to grasp opportunities at the
existing E&M market among those emerging opportunities while at the same
time explore and expand our clientele as well as diversify our business into the
emerging market of Smart Mobility and Smart Living. Internally, the Group will
invest more to further nurture our human capital by matching with the latest
government initiatives on social securities and caring. We have also been
awarded the ISO 14001:2015 certification signifying that we are committed to
act as an environmental-friendly organization devoted for the higher quality and
sustainable way of living.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the relentless support
of shareholders of our Company (the “Shareholders”), investors, suppliers,
customers and business partners, and especially our dedicated staff for
their valued contributions throughout the period. The management team
and all staff members of the Group will continue striving for better results for
the Group and maximize values for our Shareholders.

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 19 June 2019
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~ Financial Highlights

BBRE

Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to
approximately Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) 210.6 million, representing
an increase of approximately HK$16.6 million or approximately 8.6% as
compared with approximately HK$194.0 million for the year ended 31
March 2018.

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to
approximately HK$66.1 million (2018: approximately HK$56.0 million).

The net profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted
to approximately HK$19.3 million (2018: net loss of approximately HK$2.1
million).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

KML Technology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2018/19
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN Wk

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has been providing E&M engineering solutions and services
in Hong Kong for over 40 years. Our principal business is the provision
of E&M engineering works, and comprises (i) E&M engineering solutions
and services on Transportation Mission Critical Systems Solutions and
other E&M engineering solutions and services; (i) E&M engineering design
and fabrication services; (i) E&M engineering maintenance services; and
(iv) sales of parts and components. Depending on our customers’ needs
and requirements, we provide a full spectrum of solutions and services
covering design, equipment assembly, supply, installation, fabrication,
testing, and commissioning and maintenance support with a focus on
Hong Kong Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions.

The following table sets forth the details of our Group’s revenue by type
of projects and services we undertook for the year ended 31 March 2019
and 2018:

Type of Projects
15 B 5l

)
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E&M Solutions and Services
— Transportation Mission
Critical System Solutions
— Other E&M Solutions and Services

Subtotal

E&M Design and Fabrication
Services

E&M Maintenance Services

Sale of Parts and Components

Total
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Our Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted
to approximately HK$210.6 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$16.6 million or approximately 8.6% as compared with
approximately HK$194.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2018.

15
For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T—)\F
HK$°000 % HK$’'000 %
FTHET FHET
76,698 36.4 82,233 42.4
96,313 45.8 82,556 42.5
173,011 82.2 164,789 84.9
8,282 3.9 7,031 3.6
28,399 13.5 20,100 10.4
904 0.4 2,053 1.1
210,596 100.0 193,973 100.0
AEEHZE_ZT-NF=ZA=T—HLEFENRENE

210.6?%/%75 f%ﬁ TR N\F=A=t—RIFEN
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEWR D

E&M Solutions and Services segment accounts for the largest business
segment of our Group’s business. Approximately 82.2% of the revenue
was attributable to this segment for the year ended 31 March 2019.
During this reporting period, we have substantially completed the projects
including (i) Supply and Installation of “Stop-and-go” e-Payment System
at Government Tolled Tunnels and Roads; (i) Provision of over 400
units of Octopus-enabled kiosks to facilitate a public services project;
(i) Refurbishment of Kowloon Canton Railway Through Train; and (iv)
mobile payment of Taoyuan Metro Phase I. For the next year, the Group
will continue to undertake projects including (i) advance works related to
the Airport Three Runway System; (i) Replacement and Modification of
Smoke Curtains System at Airport Express Line and Tung Chung Line;
and (i) retrofit of about 1,000 ticket gates to enable Alipay HK QR Code
payment for travel on Hong Kong’s MTR system.

OUTLOOK

Modernisation and Upgrading of Transportation System

While our Group continues to focus on deepening our penetration of
the Hong Kong E&M engineering industry with special focus on the
Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions market, in order to keep
pace with the growing transport needs, modernization, upgrading and
expansion projects, the Group has been devoting more resources to
the development and application of different technologies such as QR
Code and different emerging payment methods. For the year ended 31
March 2019, the Group has been awarded over 170 projects including
(i) Taoyuan Metro Mobile Payment Design and Implementation; and (i)
Partnering with Alipay HK to retrofit about 1,000 ticket gates to enable
Alipay HK QR Code payment for travel on Hong Kong’s MTR system.
The awarding of these two projects signifies the success of the Group in
deploying the latest technology particularly in relation to mobile payment
to our projects in terms of system design and integration. The Group will
continue to develop and deploy related application and technology to
meet the emerging needs of smart mobility.

In addition, one of our major customers is engaged in a programme of
continuous renovations and upgrades to enhance passengers’ comfort
and overall travelling experience. The Group expects that the launching
out of these network-wide replacement works will create unprecedented
opportunities to the Group. In order to increase our competitiveness in
terms of financial and technical capability, the Group has teamed up with
various partners including some stated-owned enterprises. We believe
by having synergy with our business partners will increase the chance of
awarding the projects to the parties.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2018/19
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN Wk

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted
to approximately HK$210.6 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$16.6 million or approximately 8.6% as compared with
approximately HK$194.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2018. Such
increase was mainly contributed by (i) an increase of number of projects
undertaken by the Group including a new maintenance contract in relation
to the signalling equipment for the Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong
Express Rail Link for the year ended 31 March 2019; and (ii) a variation
order with substantial amount received during the year.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales comprised () material and
equipment; (ii) direct labour; and (jii) subcontracting cost. The cost of sales
increased by approximately 4.7% from approximately HK$138.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$144.5 million for
the year ended 31 March 2019. The increase in cost of sales is mainly
due to the increase in the number of projects undertaken by the Group
during the year. The gross profit of the Group increased by approximately
18.0% from approximately HK$56.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2018 to approximately HK$66.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2019. The increase in gross profit is mainly due to (i) the increase in
revenue as discussed above; and (i) a relative reduction of cost of sales.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately 8.7%
from approximately HK$40.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2018
to approximately HK$43.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. The
increase is mainly due to (i) the increase of professional fee after listing;
and (i) the increase of staff costs including the addition of the fair value of
the share options granted on 3 September 2018 and the set up fee and
maintenance fee of the share award scheme adopted on 5 November
2018.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

The Group recorded net profit attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$19.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2019
(2018: net loss of approximately HK$2.1 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEWR D

FINANCIAL POSITION

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Historically, the Company has met the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through operating cash flows and capital contribution from its
shareholders.

The Company requires cash primarily for working capital needs. As at 31
March 2019, the Company had approximately HK$77.0 million in () bank
balances and cash; and (ii) time deposits with original maturity over three
months (2018: approximately HK$60.2 million), representing an increase
of approximately HK$16.8 million as compared to that as at 31 March
2018.

On 16 October 2017 (the “Listing Date”), the ordinary shares of the
Company (the “Shares”) were listed on GEM by way of share offer (the
“Share Offer”) and completed the Share Offer of its 100,000,000 Shares,
comprising 50,000,000 Shares offered by the Company for subscription
and 50,000,000 Shares offered by the Company for placing, with a par
value of HK$0.01 each at offer price of HK$0.6 per Share for the net
proceeds of approximately HK$36.0 million. The Company believed that
the funding from the Share Offer on the GEM would allow the Group to
access the capital market for raising funds in the future. There has been
no change on the capital structure of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2019 and up to the date of this report (i.e. 19 June 2019) (the
“Date of this Report”). The capital of the Company only comprises of
ordinary shares.

Capital Expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$0.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 which
comprised of the acquisition of furniture, fixtures and office equipment
(2018: approximately HK$1.9 million).

Final Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2019, the Group employed 202 employees (2018:
212 employees). The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with
the prevailing market practice and are determined on the basis of
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee. On
top of basic salaries, bonus may be paid with reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance. Other staff benefits
include provision of retirement benefits, medical benefits and life insurance
benefits. Share options and/or share awards may also be granted to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s performance as well as the
individual contribution.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SEEIER RSk

Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual Business

Progress

An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in the
Company’s prospectus dated 29 September 2017 (the “Prospectus”)
with the Group’s actual business progress for the period from the Listing
Date to 31 March 2019 is set out below:

Business strategy

Expand and enhance our E&M engineering
technical capabilties by:

() Increasing our productivity through
the purchase of new machineries and
equipment;

(i) Improving our material handling and
field service capacity;

(i) Purchasing and implementing
information technology solutions; and

(iv)  Retaining our talents and enhancing
the risk mitigation measures.

Deepen our penetration of the E&M
engineering industry with special focus on
the Transportation Mission Critical System
Solutions market by strengthening our
research and development capabilities and
increasing our brand awareness through
marketing efforts through:

() Expanding our office space and work
area;

(i) Increasing our marketing efforts and
business exposure; and

(i)~ Enhancement of our research and
development capabilties.

Strengthen our financial capabilities to
undertake larger-scale E&M engineering
projects in the future.

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2019

The Group has purchased several fibre cable testing
related equipment in order to maintain our competitiveness
in the railway sector as the Group anticipates that E&M
engineering systems in the railways will rely increasingly on
optical fiore networks to transfer relevant system data in the
future.

The Group has enhanced our insurance coverage and
employee remuneration packages, including () upgrading
of employees” medical insurance plan; (i) purchasing of
the Group's professional indemnity insurance plan; (ii)
purchasing of the Group’s product liability insurance plan;
and (i) providing funds for the employees’ performance
bonus scheme.

The Group has rented additional space and storage facilties
to cater for additional space required for operation and to
accommodate the new machineries and equipment to be
purchased.

The Group has purchased four vehicles to increase our
travelling efficiency and allow or project teams to transport
additional spare parts and equipment for use in our
operations.

The Group has () arranged our employees to participate
in exhibitions, conferences and symposiums; and (i) been
making an effort to increase business exposure in Taiwan.

The Group has produced corporate and promotional video
in order to increase our corporate image as well as brand
awareness.

The Group has purchased three-dimensional design
software, enabling us to create three-dimensional drawings
and designs for our products.

The Group is in the process of (i) recruiting additional
marketing staff; and (ii) setting up the marketing and
demonstration area.

The Group has further enhanced our banking facilities in
order to improve the provision of performance guarantees
such that the Group could undertake large-scale E&M
engineering projects.
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Use of Proceeds from the Listing

On 16 October 2017, the Shares were listed on GEM by way of Share
Offer. The Group intends to apply the proceeds from the Listing in
accordance with the proposed applications set out in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

As set out in the Prospectus, the business objectives and strategies of
the Group are: (i) expand and enhance our E&M engineering technical
capability; (i) deepen our penetration of the Hong Kong E&M engineering
industry with special focus on the Transportation Mission Critical System
Solutions market by strengthening our research and development
capabilities and increasing our brand awareness through marketing
efforts; and (jii) strengthen the Group’s financial capabilities to undertake
larger scale E&M engineering projects in the future.

After deduction of all related listing expenses and commissions, the net
proceeds from Listing amounted to approximately HK$36.0 million. Up to
31 March 2019, the Group has utilized approximately HK$16.5 million of
the net proceeds from Listing as follows:

LHABFRRR

RZB—EF+A+RE - RPARDEEFREGEM £
™ o REEEHE LTS RURIRBREIZ Al AR RETEI R PT
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AN EIZATEL - ARBEL B REERR () EAR
REBFIEETIZRIEE N ¢ (i) BBEG R B IFIR AT 3 aE
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Planned use

of net proceeds
as stated in the Actual use of net
Prospectus up to  proceeds up to
31 March 2019 31 March 2019

BEE-Z—hF
=A=+—-8B HEZZ-hE
BRERME =A=+-—H
FIERIEFE FrBRIEFE
Wt B A Z WER AR
HK’000 HK’000
FExT Fix
Expand and enhance our E&M engineering BARRSEMOEETERMEE
technical capabilities 16,054 5,673
Deepen our penetration of the Hong Kong E&M  #RiB1E 3 T FIEVATEE6E S I
engineering industry with special focus on the BEEHETFRIES MM RE
Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions ~ REVEIFH BB E TR
market by strengthening our research and (FrRIS TR mER RS TR
development capabilities and increasing our Mi5) H2iE K
brand awareness through marketing efforts 7,564 790
Strengthen our financial capabilities to undertake &38R B H 14 A B AR E
larger-scale E&M engineering projects in THRBEMNHBEN
the future 6,000 10,000
Total A 29,618 16,463

The business objectives, future plans and planned use of proceeds
as stated in the Prospectus were based on the best estimation and
assumption of future market conditions by the Group at the time of
preparing the Prospectus while the proceeds were applied based on the
actual development of the Group’s business and the market conditions.
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GEARING RATIO

The ratio was not applicable for the year ended 31 March 2019 as no
borrowing was incurred (2018: not applicable).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

We conducted business with customers, suppliers and subcontractors
located in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
overseas. The Group’s exposure to the currency risk mainly arises from
the fluctuation of Renminbi (“RMB”), Euro (‘EUR”) or United States dollars
(“USD”). The Group currently does not have any hedging policy in place
for its foreign currency exposure. The management will consider hedging
significant currency exposure should the need arise.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 March 2019. The Group strives to
reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to
ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not hold any significant investments in equity interest in any
other companies as at 31 March 2019. Except for those included in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus,
the Group had no definite future plans for material investments and capital
assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR JOINT VENTURES

Apart from the reorganisation in relation to the Listing as disclosed in the
Prospectus, there were no other significant investments held, material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures
during the year ended 31 March 2019.

PLEDGES OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has pledged bank deposits at HK$10.8
million (2018: HK$5.0 million) to secure the banking facilities.

COMMITMENTS

The commitments of the Group were primarily related to the leases of its
office premises and workshops. The Group’s future commitments as at
31 March 2019 were mainly in relation to (i) operating lease commitments
amounted to approximately HK$5.9 million (2018: approximately HK$10.2
million); and (i) capital commitments amounted to approximately HK$1.2
million of additional equipment (2018: Nil).
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2018: Nil).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the following principal risks of the
Group were identified:

i) Technology is fast changing and keep up with technological
advancements is important to allow the Group to stay competitive
in the industry. Failure to keep up with the technical breakthroughs
could potentially jeopardise the Company’s competitiveness within
the industry;

(ii) Personal injuries, property damages or fatal accidents may occur
at our work sites which may materially and adversely affect our
business operations as well as financial position;

(iii) Our success and business operations rely on certain key personnel
and our ability to attract and retain talented staff. If we are unable
to retain them, our business may be severely disrupted and our
operations, financial results and future prospects may be adversely
affected;

(iv) In order to bid larger scale or more complex projects, the Group
may need to form joint venture with different business partners.
Unstable joint venture partners may bring operational or financial
risks to the Company; and

(V) The Group is facing challenges when exploring more opportunities
in different business areas or industries due to licensing or
registration requirements. Failure of breaking these entrance
barriers may limit our business growth.

For other risks facing the Group, please refer to the section headed “Risk
Factors” in the Prospectus.

Our Risk Control Mechanism

Our Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess, mitigate and handle risks. At the first line of defence,
operating units are responsible for identifying and monitoring risks
associated with each business. The management, as the second line of
defence, defines rules and models, provides technical support, develops
new systems and oversees portfolio management. It ensures that risks
are within acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective.
As the final line of defence, the risk management committee of the
Company (the “Risk Management Committee”), with the professional
and independent advice from the internal audit function ensures the first
and second line of defence are effective through constant inspection and
monitoring.

The Group maintains a risk register to keep track of all identified major
risks of the Group. The risk register provides the Board, the Risk
Management Committee and management with a profile of its major risks
and records management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant risks.
The risk register will be reviewed and monitored at least annually. The
review process ensures that the Group proactively manages the risks
faced by it.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERENEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (B£$887), aged 72, is an Executive Director and the
chairman of our Board. Mr. KM Luk founded our Group and joined us
when he was appointed as a director of KML Engineering Limited (“KML
Engineering”) in August 1977. Mr. Luk is responsible for overall strategic
planning and development of our Group, and oversees the financial
management and planning of our Group. He is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, and a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. KM Luk has more than 50 years of experience in the E&M engineering
industry, with a focus on the development of automatic fare collection and
railway transportation control systems. In August 1977, Mr. Luk founded
KML Engineering, the principal subsidiary of our Group as a contractor for
providing services in the fields of electrical power engineering, signalling
and communication engineering, and computer-based toll collection
systems, etc.

Mr. KM Luk was registered as a Chartered Engineer (CEng) by The
Institution of Electronic and Radio Engineers, the United Kingdom, a
Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering Institutions, the United
Kingdom. He is admitted a member and registered as a Chartered
Electrical Engineer by The Institution of Electrical Engineers (currently
known as the Institution of Engineering and Technology), the United
Kingdom, and a Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering
institutions, the United Kingdom. He is also admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong Institution of Electrical Engineers, a member of Institution of
Railway Signal Engineers, and a member of Hong Kong Association of
Energy Engineers. He was nominated as the Country Vice President of
Institution of Railway Signal Engineers for Hong Kong, China in March
2011.

Mr. KM Luk is the father of Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (“Mr. KL Luk”) and Mr.
Luk Yin Cheung (“Mr. YC Luk”), both our Executive Directors. Mr. KM
Luk is also the spouse of Ms. Leung Kwok Yee (“Madam Leung”), our
controlling Shareholder, and the father-in-law of Ms. Woo Siu Wai (“Ms.
Wo0”), our company secretary.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip (BR3Z#B), aged 57, is an Executive Director
and our chief executive officer. Mr. Chan is responsible for overseeing the
daily operations and overall general management of our Group. Mr. Chan
is also a member of the Risk Management Committee.

Mr. Chan has more than 30 years of experience in E&M engineering.
He joined KML Engineering in October 1987. Since then, he has served
our Group in various capacities including engineer, general manager of
advanced products department, the operation director and the managing
director of KML Engineering.

Mr. Chan has been a director of KML Engineering since June 1991. He
is a technical director and one of the authorised signatories appointed
by KML Engineering for its qualification as a Registered Minor Works
Contractor for Type A and Type C of Class Il & lll under the Buildings
Ordinance.

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering with first class
honours in mechanical engineering from the University of Newcastle, the
United Kingdom and a degree of Master of Science in Engineering from
The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. He was admitted as associate
member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a member of The
Institution of Electrical Engineers (currently known as the Institution of
Engineering and Technology), the United Kingdom and registered as
a Chartered Engineer (CEng) by the Engineering Council (UK). He was
elected as a member of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, the
United Kingdom. He is also a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (BEZEE), aged 42, is an Executive Director.
Mr. KL Luk is responsible for overseeing the business development
and marketing of our Group. Mr. KL Luk has been a director of KML
Technology Limited (“KML Technology”) and KML Engineering since
February 2012 and November 2015 respectively. Mr. KL Luk is one
of the authorised signatories appointed by KML Engineering for its
qualification as a Registered Minor Works for Type A of Class Il & Il
under the Buildings Ordinance. Mr. KL Luk is also a member of the Risk
Management Committee.

Mr. KL Luk joined our Group in January 2003 and appointed as deputy
managing director in December 2015. He developed comprehensive
experiences in process management in various departments in KML
Engineering, and acted as the project manager for various projects
undertaken by our Group in the past nine years.
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Mr. KL Luk obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in hotel
administration from University of Nevada, Las Vegas, the United States,
a degree of Master of Science in administrative studies from Boston
University, the United States, and a degree of Master of Science in
engineering business management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, Hong Kong. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

Mr. KL Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, our founder, Executive Director and
chairman of our Board, and the elder brother of Mr. YC Luk, an Executive
Director. Mr. KL Luk is the elder son of Madam Leung, our controlling
Shareholder, and the brother-in-law of Ms. Woo Siu Wai, our company
secretary.

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung (former name is Luk Tit Cheung) (B Z#2), aged
40, is an Executive Director. Mr. YC Luk is responsible for overseeing
the operation support of our Group, including sourcing and project
administration of our Group. Mr. YC Luk has been a director of KML
Technology and KML Engineering since February 2012 and November
2015 respectively. Mr. YC Luk is also a member of the Risk Management
Committee.

Mr. YC Luk joined our Group in June 2006 and appointed as associate
director in December 2015. In the past 11 years, Mr. YC Luk has gained
vast experience in providing training on occupation safety, purchasing,
inventory and logistics management in the E&M engineering industry.

Mr. YC Luk graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration from The University College of the Cariboo, Canada
and Diploma in Marketing by The University of Hong Kong School of
Professional and Continuing Education in association with the Chartered
Institute of Marketing, Hong Kong. He was elected an affiliate member
of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong
and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. To promote
the occupational safety of our Group, Mr. YC Luk also awarded a
Diploma in Occupational Health and Safety by the Li Ka Shing Institute
of Professional and Continuing Education, The Open University of Hong
Kong.

Mr. YC Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, our founder, Executive Director
and chairman of our Board, and the younger brother of Mr. KL Luk, an
Executive Director. Mr. YC Luk is the younger son of Madam Leung,
our controlling Shareholder, and the spouse of Ms. Woo Siu Wai, our
company secretary.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau On Kwok (2|ZE ), aged 52, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Lau is the chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Risk Management
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lau has extensive experience in the fields of financial management,
corporate governance and direct investment. He started his career as
accounting professional in an international accountancy firm. Mr. Lau
was an executive director at China Assets Investment Management
Limited and was also the company secretary and a member of investment
committee of China Assets (Holdings) Limited, a company previously
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 170) from April 2004 to
December 2010. He was a director of Shandong Lukang Pharmaceutical
Company Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600789), from May 2007 to April 2012. From
May 2009 to January 2011, Mr. Lau was an independent non-executive
director of Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0851). He was employed by Sheng Yuan Asset
Management Limited from January 2011 to August 2014, where his
last position was executive director. He also assumed the duties of the
managing director of Sheng Yuan Investment Advisors Limited from
January 2011 to December 2013. Mr. Lau was the company secretary
and financial controller at Winshine Science Company Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 209), from November 2014 to
November 2018. Mr. Lau has been a director of China Assets (Holdings)
Limited and a director of China Assets Investment Management Limited
since October 2018.

Mr. Lau obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in accounting and financial
analysis from University of Newcastle upon Tyne and a degree of Master
of Science in financial management from University of London. He also
obtained a Diploma on Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations
affecting Foreign Business jointly awarded by Southwest University of
Political Science and Law and the Hong Kong Management Association.

Mr. Lau is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the United Kingdom.

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen (£Kk%&), aged 49, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Law is
the chairman of the Risk Management Committee, and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Law has extensive experience in financial management and
professional accounting. He was the chief finance officer of Diamondlite
Limited, one of the leading jewellery manufacturer in the PRC. Having
started his career as a professional accountant in an international
accountancy firm, Mr. Law has undertaken key financial management
positions in companies engaged in a variety of industries. Mr. Law has
been an executive director and company secretary of Kai Yuan Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1215),
since May 2011 and February 2014 respectively and is also currently their
chief financial officer.

Mr. Law obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy from the

City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. He is an associate member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERENEEE

Dr. Tse Chi Kong (&% /), aged 54, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Dr. Tse is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

From September 1991 to April 2005, Dr. Tse worked as a lecturer,
assistant professor, associate professor and professor in the department
of electronic and information engineering (“EIE Department”) of the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong. Dr. Tse was the head of EIE
Department from August 2005 to December 2012. Since May 2005, He
has also been the chair professor of electronic engineering in the EIE
Department. Dr. Tse has been appointed as a member of the research
projects assessment panel of Innovation and Technology Fund, a fund
administered by the Innovation and Technology Commission of the
Government of Hong Kong, for a term from January 2017 to December
2018. He was re-appointed as a member of the Quality Education Fund
Steering Committee, which advises the government of Hong Kong on the
policies and procedures governing the operation of the Quality Education
Fund, in January 2017 for a term of two years. Dr. Tse is currently a
member of the council of the Confucius Institute of Hong Kong, an
institute under the faculty of humanities of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, Hong Kong and a member of the board of governers of the
Hong Kong Sinfonietta.

Dr. Tse obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering and a degree of
Doctor of Philosophy from The University of Melbourne, Australia. He
has been elected to the grade of fellow of the Institute of Electrical and
Electronic Engineers, Inc., New York. He is a Chartered Professional
Engineer with Engineers Australia and a Fellow of Engineers Australia.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tung Tsz On (E ¥ %), aged 49, is the chief engineer of our Group.
Mr. Tung is responsible for research and development, planning and
formulation and supervising the implementation of our projects with
provision of day-to-day technical and expert advice to our Group. Mr.
Tung is one of the authorised signatories of KML Engineering for its
qualification as a Registered Minor Works Contractor for Type A and Type
C of Class Il & lll under the Buildings Ordinance since September 2011.

Mr. Tung joined our Group in February 2003 as a system engineer and
was promoted to the position of chief engineer in April 2010. Mr. Tung
has more than 10 years of experience in design and management of
E&M engineering projects covering a variety of systems such as mobile
payment, automatic control system, car park system, security system
and point of sales system etc. He has expertise in handling maintenance
work for electronic systems, as well as participating in development and
implementation of automatic fare collection systems.

Mr. Tung obtained an Advanced Diploma in network engineering granted
by the Hong Kong Productivity Council in December 2000.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Ms. Law Shuk Ming (& B1), aged 48, is our chief accountant, being
responsible for day-to-day accounting and financial reporting of our
Group. Ms. Law joined our Group in May 1995 and was promoted to
chief accountant in November 2017.

Ms. Law obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration from
Capstone University, the United States, and completed the Accounting
Technician Examination by Hong Kong Institute of Accredited Accounting
Technicians.

Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen (##& %), aged 44, is a director of KML
Engineering. Ms. Wai joined our Group in December 1997 and has been
responsible for overall administration of our Group. Ms. Wai has been a
director of KML Engineering since October 2009.

Ms. Wai obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in public and social
administration and a Degree of Master of Arts in professional accounting
and information systems, both from the City University of Hong Kong.
She was also awarded the Graduate Diploma of Financial Services by
Deakin University, Australia, and admitted as a fellow Certified Insurance
Professional by the Australian and New Zealand Institute of Insurance and
Finance.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Woo Siu Wai (#8)7), aged 39, is our company secretary,
responsible for company secretarial matters, human resources and
administrative duties. Ms. Woo joined our Group in April 2011 and was
subsequently promoted to administration manager in October 2016.

Before joining our Group, Ms. Woo worked at Success Light Investment
Limited from February 2004, and last held the position of company
secretarial assistant in the finance department before her departure in
April 2011.

Ms. Woo obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from the faculty of social
sciences of the University of Victoria, Canada, and a degree of Master
of Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance from
City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. Ms. Woo was admitted as an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an
associate of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

Ms. Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk, our Executive Director, the
daughter-in-law of Mr. KM Luk, our founder, Executive Director and
chairman of our Board, the daughter-in-law of Madam Leung, our
controlling Shareholder, and the sister-in-law of Mr. KL Luk, our Executive
Director.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung (FEZE#), aged 40, has been appointed as the

compliance officer of our Company. His biography is set out in the
subsection headed “Executive Directors”in this section.
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Report of Directors
EEERE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of electrical and
mechanical engineering solutions and services. Analysis of the principal
activities of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out in
the note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 75 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as at 31 March 2019 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out in
the paragraphs headed “Business Review” and “Outlook” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report respectively. Descriptions of possible risks and uncertainties that
the Group may be facing are provided in paragraphs headed “Principal
Risks and Uncertainties” under the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is
provided in the Financial Highlights on page 6 of this annual report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, important relationships with its stakeholders and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations are contained and available
in this Report of Directors. The above discussions constitute part of this
Report of Directors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises that all employees have the social obligation to
preserve and enhance the quality of the environment. We strive to protect
the environment in the course of our business activities by preventing
pollution, reducing adverse impact on climate change and enhancing
sustainable development. These policies are supported by our employees
and are implemented effectively.

At the same time, the Group recognises the importance of compliance
with regulatory requirements and applicable laws and regulations. During
the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group has complied in material
respects with environmental laws and regulations including Air Pollution
Control (Construction Dust) Regulation, Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste)
(General) Regulation of Waste Disposal Ordinance, Waste Disposal
(Charges for Disposal of Construction Waste) Regulation, Noise Control
Ordinance, Noise Control (General) Regulation and Noise Control (Hand
Held Percussive Breakers) Regulations.

In addition, the efforts of the implementation of environmental
management system of the company along with its two subsidiaries
(KML Engineering and KML Technology) have been recognized, all three
companies have been successfully certified with the 1ISO 14001:2015 in
one time during the Reporting Period.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. The major laws and regulations relating to the Group’s
business and operations include the Electricity Ordinance, Security
and Guarding Services Ordinance, Building (Minor Works) Regulation,
Construction Industry Council Ordinance and the Subcontractor
Registration Scheme. During the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to
the Date of this Report, the Group has complied in material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the Date of this Report.
And the Group has complied with all relevant requirements including
financial, technical, management and personal criteria applicable to each
respective laws and regulations.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Employees

As at 31 March 2019, the Group employed 202 employees. We
maintained a good working relationship with our employees and we did
not experience any labour disputes during the year ended 31 March
2019. Recruitment in the E&M engineering service industry is highly
competitive, especially with respect to the recruitment of qualified
engineering staff. We believe we are hiring high-quality employees in the
market by offering competitive wages and benefits and comprehensive
training opportunities. We have facilitated the recruitment through a
variety of channels, such as newspapers, internet websites, recruitment
agencies, career talks and internal referrals. We believe our continuous
efforts will help us attract suitable personnel.

Customers

Our customers comprise mainly transportation companies and other
engineering companies in Hong Kong and Taiwan and also various
departments of the Hong Kong Government. We maintain business
relationship with our top one customer since year 1978. We usually enter
into agreements with our customers on project basis and the majority of
such contracts have term over one year. Most of our project contracts are
fixed price contracts. The lump sum price is usually determined based on
factors including project requirements and estimated cost of materials,
labour and time required for completion of the projects.

Suppliers

The Group sources equipment, parts and components from our suppliers.
The principal materials and equipment used by our E&M engineering
business include steel and copper parts, switchboards, and various
mechanical equipment. Most of these materials and equipment are
sourced from local suppliers or imported mainly from Germany, Taiwan
and the PRC.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last four
financial years is set out on page 144 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds from the Listing of the Company on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange on the Listing Date (after deducting underwriting fees
and related expenses) amounted to approximately HK$36.0 million. As at
31 March 2019, the Company had used approximately HK$16.5 million
of the net proceeds for the purposes as disclosed in the Prospectus,
representing 45.8% of the net proceeds for the Listing.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

Major Customers

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s sales to its five largest
customers accounted for approximately 85.9% (2018: approximately
85.5%) of the Group’s total revenue and our single largest customer
accounted for approximately 66.0% (2018: approximately 57.6%) of the
Group’s total revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 36.3% (2018: approximately 40.2%) of the
Group’s total purchases and our single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 14.8% (2018: approximately 20.9%) of the Group’s total
purchases.

Major Subcontractors

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s five largest
subcontractors accounted for approximately 69.6% (2018: approximately
92.2%) of the Group’s total subcontracting cost and our single largest
subcontractor accounted for approximately 22.9% (2018: approximately
32.8%) of the Group’s total subcontracting cost.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of
the Company) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers,
suppliers and subcontractors.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the

Company and the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set
out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year

ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group

during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out on page 77 in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
amounted to approximately HK$77.1 million (2018: approximately
HK$57.9 million).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Company and the Group did not have any bank loans and other
borrowings during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019 and
up to the Date of this Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Chak Lun, Philip (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau On Kwok

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. Tse Chi Kong

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting (“AGM”) one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
circular to be despatched to the Shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 15 to 20 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent during the year ended 31 March 2019 (the
“Relevant Period”) and remain so as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,
which may be renewable subject to both parties’ agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, which may be renewable subject to both parties’
agreement.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or his connected entity had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Relevant Period.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, during the Relevant Period, no
contract of significance in respect of provision of services or otherwise
was entered into between the Company or its subsidiaries and the
controlling Shareholders or his/her/its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Relevant Period and up to the date of
this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the directors and senior management
and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid
individuals during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Company
are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”))
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), which were recorded in the register required to be
kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:
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Approximate
Percentage of

Number Long/short  Shareholding in

Name Capacity/Nature of Interest of Shares position™t9  the Company (%)

RAERATH

®E B e BROBE #FAE KA WS BRENES T

Mr. KM Luk (Nete 1) Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 162,000,000 L 40.5

Fo §8 AR o A () EnEAA B

Mr. KL Luk Mote2 Interest in controlled corporation 138,000,000 L 34.5

R 2= 2 o A (i2) R AR

Mr. YC Luk (Note2) Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation; 138,600,000 L 34.7

R E 525k & (M (i) interest of spouse

LB BLEER
Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip Beneficial owner 4,000,000 L 1.0
(“Mr. CL Chan”) Nete4) EmMAA

PRI o ([ BB £ ) e

Notes: st -

1) Mr. KM Luk directly holds 105,000,000 Shares. Since Mr. KM Luk is the spouse of (1) FEERA ST BB 105,000,000 RIR 7 AR EEEERA 7t 4 B R
Madam Leung, Mr. KM Luk is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which LAY - AEERE B i AR R T 1B e B IR 1%
Madam Leung is interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO, which is 7R E RO 152 (EHE A 1 2 19 BT B BR 17 (B157,000,000 AR A%
57,000,000 Shares. 5) L FERS o

@ Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings @) GEFEAEREZELESEHET —RKML Holdings Limited
Limited (“KML Holdings”), representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML ([KML Holdings.]) Z#% (1 KML Holdings Hi# 1% 21#.2 B 5
Holdings carrying voting rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk are deemed to be TTIRAKAI50%) » [EEE I EREEZE X ERKML Holdings #
interested in all Shares in which KML Holdings is interested or deemed to be F 1 IR IR B 5 R ENR PR 1R (EHE B a0 BT B AR (7 (BT
interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares. 138,000,000 B8R 17 ) #E 5 #E s ©

3) Since Mr. YC Luk is the spouse of Ms. Woo Siu Wai (“Ms. Woo”), Mr. YC Luk is 3 AREEE T BIRALZ L ([BZ 1)) BIEHE - RIECGES R
deemed to be interest in all the Shares in which Ms. Woo is interested or deemed HEIEO)  BEEZLERBERBRPR L #Em ol R
to be interested under the SFO, which is 600,000 Shares. AT AR 7 (B1600,000 B8R 17 ) 1 B #Eas ©

) Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip was interested as a grantee of options to subscribe “) PG ERBESE LA FER BRI B (D BB IR (718 2 - RIIRIZIE IR
for up to 4,000,000 Shares under the Share Option Scheme (announced on 3 G (R=F—/VFNA=H2MH) 53585 2 4,000,000 iR 17
September 2018).

5) The Letter “L.” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares. (5) FH L] FRZ R MAARR D Z 2B -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.

BEXPRHEEEN  R-E-NF=A=+—R0 BEFL
TABEMAL (LFEEERARTERTRAR) RAR
BIRt SARRE R i BB IRIBCRE 25 B B 5 )55 XV &F 8
2 M3 APAMANA F MBS P ER - RIBGES M E
fEP1)2E 336 IRARRAZIFATL E LM AR ERIOXR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO:

FERFRRROREBRONVERR LR

RZB-NF=ZA=+—H0 REEMRM  ATAL(X
FEZEHARAEETRAR)RNAA BN AR T
BARRIRBC(E R LB GRDIDE 336 AT ENE T
PREC R SARIBCE 7 M AN B G0 EXVERE 2 & 30 BR & XA
IR A BB 2 PR R O 2 BOA R

Approximate
Percentage of

Number Long/short  Shareholding in

Name Capacity/Nature of Interest of Shares position™9  the Company (%)
RELQB]H

®H B RmitE ROBE HE KA HED BREABS L
KML Holdings ®ete ! Beneficial owner 138,000,000 L 34.5
KML Holdings &1 EnEEA
Madam Leung Mete2 Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 162,000,000 40.5
RAr+ (2) EmfAA ; IiiBEs
Ms. Chan Patricia et Interest of spouse 138,000,000 L 34.5
BRI 55 22 (59) iRty o
Ms. Woo Nete4) Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 138,600,000 L 34.7

g (e BB

Notes:

(1) Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings,
representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML Holdings carrying voting
rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk also own approximately 50% and approximately
50%, respectively, of the issued preferred shares in KML Holdings which do not
carry voting rights but only rights to dividends.

2 Madam Leung is the spouse of Mr. KM Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Madam Leung
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KM Luk is interested or
deemed to be interested under the SFO, and vice versa.

3) Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. KL Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Chan is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KL Luk is interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO.

4) Ms. Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Woo is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. YC Luk is interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares. Ms. Woo was interested
as a grantee of options to subscribe for up to 600,000 Shares under the Share
Option Scheme (announced on 3 September 2018).

5) The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Relevant Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the directors
and employees of the Group have made or may make to the Group, the
Company approved and adopted the share option scheme pursuant to
the written resolutions of the Shareholders passed on 20 September 2017
(the “Share Option Scheme”).

i) The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant an option to subscribe any Director or employee
of the Group, from time to time, on the basis of his/her contribution
or potential contribution to the development and growth of the
Group.

(ii) On 3 September 2018, 9,200,000 share options (“Options”)
were granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme.
Among the Options granted, 4,000,000 Options were granted to
1 Director of the Company, 1,400,000 Options were granted to 1
Director of a subsidiary of the Company and 600,000 Options were
granted to an associate to a Director of the Company. Among the
9,200,000 Options granted, approximately 48.9% has been vested
on 3 March 2019 and approximately 51.1% will be vested on 3
March 2020, provided that the grantee has to remain as an Eligible
Participant (as defined in the Share Option Scheme) on such
vesting date.

(iii) For the year ended 31 March 2019, 9,200,000 Options were
granted on 3 September 2018 and the fair value of the Options
granted was approximately HK$1,706,448, which was calculated
by using the binomial option pricing model based on following
inputs. The values of the Options are subject to certain fundamental
limitations, including the subjective nature of and uncertainty
relating to a number of assumptions of the expected future
performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations
of the model itself. The expected volatility was determined with
reference to the historical daily volatilities of the share price of the
Company. The risk-free rate was determined with reference to
the prevailing rate on debt securities with reference to Thomson
Reuters.
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Date of grant 3 September 2018
R BH —E-N\FRAZ=H
Share price at grant date HK$0.385
PR B BRI B A% 0.385%7T
Exercise price HK$0.385
1TEE 0.385 77T
Expected volatility 61.93%
T8 B R 1R 61.93%
Expected life 5 years from the

date of grant
TREREF R B H BB RF
Risk-free rate 2.112%
R = 2.112%
Expected dividend yield 0%
TREARR B R 0%
Exercise multiple 2.X
TI{EEE 2.x

The Group recognised an expense of approximately HK$1,166,000 in
relation to Options granted by the Company for the year ended 31 March

2019.

Details regarding the number of Options, date of grant, vesting period,
exercise period and exercise price of the Options granted under the Share

Option Scheme are set out below:

Name of participants

SRENL

Mr. CL Chan
(Director and Chief
executive officer)

REHLE
(ExRReH)

Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen
(Director of KML Engineering)

FAERL
(RARHIENES)

Date of
Options granted

RitERERS

3 September 2018

“T-\FhAZR

3 September 2018

“Z-\ENA=H

Total
number of Number of Options
Options granted granted
BRLERE R
LR BREHE
4,000,000 2,000,000
2,000,000
1,400,000 700,000
700,000
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Vesting period

BEA

3 September 2018
to 2 March 2019

“E-\ENA=HZ
—Z-NE=AZH

3 September 2018

to 2 March 2020
—E-/\ENA=HE
-y =

3 September 2018

to 2 March 2019
“Z-\ENA=RE
ZE-NE=AZH

3 September 2018

to 2 March 2020
Z3-\fNAZRZE
2y =

Exercise period

T8

3March 2019 to
3 September 2023

“E-N\5=f=HZ
“Z-=FNB=H

3 March 2020 to

3 September 2023
e ==
ZEZ=ENAZA

3 March 2019 to

3 September 2023
“E-NF=AZRE
“E-=FNA=H

3 March 2020 to
3 September 2023
“Z-ZF-f-H%

“Z-ZFABZH

Closing price

immediately before

Exercise price of date
Options of grant
SERLAR

BRETEE HZHmE
HK$ per share HKS per share
/B &/

0.385 035

0.385 035
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Closing price
Total immediately before
Date of number of Number of Options Exercise price of date
Name of participants Options granted ~ Options granted granted Vesting period Exercise period Options of grant
ERILBRE 2R BEREAS
SHEERE RLERERSD HE4Y BREYR BEH e BREARE A Gl
HKS per share HKS per share
/% wr/
Ms. Woo 3 September 2018 600,000 300,000 3 September 2018 to 3March 2019 to 0.385 0.35
(Company Secretary) 2 March 2019 3 September 2023
il “Z-)\§NA=H “T-\ENR=RZ “T-NF-R=HZ
(RERE) Z5-NE=R=A “Z--FNAZH
300,000 3 September 2018 to 3 March 2020 to
2 March 2020 3 September 2023
“Z-)\fAR=RE  -E-ZF=AzHZ
e = “ZZ-ENA=H
Employees 3 September 2018 3,200,000 1,500,000 3 September 2018 to 3 March 2019 to 0.385 0.35
2 March 2019 3 September 2023
B8 —Z-\ENA=H “Z-\ENA=HE ZE-N\5=A=HZE
“Z-NE=A=H “Z-=FNA=H
1,700,000 3 September 2018 to 3 March 2020 to
2 March 2020 3 September 2023
“T-\EAB=RE  -E-TEZF=HZ
B = ZEZ=FNAZA
Total 9,200,000
it

REBE-Z-NF=ZA=+—-RILFERERL BT
REFH BRI ER ZE-NEF=ZA=+—RERITHE

Details of the movements of Options granted, exercised or cancelled/
lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2019 and still outstanding as at

31 March 2019 are as follows: 2B BN
Number of Number of Number of Number of  Outstanding as at
Outstanding as at Options granted ~ Options exercised ~ Options cancelled Options lapsed 31 March
Name of participants 1 April 2018 during the year during the year during the year during the year 2019
R=2-N§ KEE rEE rEE FEE RZB-1%
mA-A ERE 27k 2 2% =A=t-H
SERENS HRATE BREHE BREHE BREHE BREHE i RATE
Mr. CL Chan - 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
(Director and Chief executive officer)
BEREE
(BERTHEH)
Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen - 1,400,000 - - - 1,400,000
(Director of KML Engineering)
Y
(RARRIRNES)
Ms. Woo (Company Secretary) - 600,000 - - - 600,000
L (REE)
Employees - 3,200,000 - - - 3,200,000
EE
Total - 9,200,000 - - - 9,200,000
M@zt
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 5 November 2018 (the “Adoption Date”). Subject to any
early termination as may be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 15 years commencing on
the Adoption Date. Please refer to the announcement dated 5 November
2018 for details.

There were no awarded shares granted, vested, forfeited or outstanding
during the year ended 31 March 2019.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Saved for the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme as set
out in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement that would or might
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that requiring the Company to
enter into an agreement that would or might result in the Company issuing
Shares, was entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at
the end of the year.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

The Company did not issue any debentures for the year ended 31 March
2019.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
During the Relevant Period, neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the

Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2018/19
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 20 September 2017
(the “Deed of Non-competition”) entered into by the Group and Mr.
KM Luk, Madam Leung, Mr. KL Luk, Mr. YC Luk and KML Holdings
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) and as covenators
(collectively, the “Covenators”), each of the Covenators has irrevocably
and unconditionally undertaken to and covenanted with the Company
(for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries) that, subject to the exceptions
as described in the Prospectus, during the period that the Deed of Non-
Competition remains effective, he/she/it shall not, and shall procure that
his/her/its associates (other than any members of the Group) will not,
during the term of the Deed of Non-Competition, directly or indirectly,
either for his/her/its own account or in conjunction with or on behalf
of or for any other person, firm or company, whether for profit, reward
or otherwise, (i) carry on, participate in, be interested or engaged in,
or acquire or hold any right or interest (in each case whether as a
shareholder, partner, agent, consultant, employee or otherwise) directly
or indirectly in any business which is or likely to be in competition with
the business currently from time to time engaged by the Group (the
“Restricted Business”) in Hong Kong, Taiwan and any other country or
jurisdiction which any member of the Group provides such services and/
or in which any member of the Group carries on its business currently and
from time to time (the “Territory”); (ii) solicit, interfere with or endeavour to
entice away from any member of the Group any person, firm, company or
organisation who to his/her/its knowledge is now or has been a customer,
supplier, subcontractor or employee of any member of the Group in the
past twelve months before such proposed engagement or employment;
or (i) without prior written consent of the Company, make use of any
information pertaining to the business, which have or may have come to
his/her/its knowledge in his/her/its capacity as a Controlling Shareholder
and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its capacity as a Controlling
Shareholder and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its engaging,
investing or participating in any Restricted Business in the Territory. For
details of the above, please refer to the Prospectus.

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders confirming their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition respectively during the Relevant Period for disclosure in this
annual report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Deed
of Non-competition during the Relevant Period and based on the
information and confirmation provided by or obtained from the Controlling
Shareholders and they were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders
have duly complied with the Deed of Non-competition during the Relevant
Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Relevant Period, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any
interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Relevant Period, the Group entered into certain connected
transactions with the connected persons of the Company, namely K M L
Limited and Logistic Industrial Supply Company Limited.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Tenancy Agreement

KML Engineering, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant
entered into the tenancy agreement on 12 September 2017 (the “First
Tenancy Agreement’) with K M L Limited as landlord, pursuant to
which K M L Limited agreed to lease to KML Engineering the Premises
and certain parking spaces (as detailed in the Prospectus). The Directors
believe that the entering of this First Tenancy Agreement is necessary
for the continuous use of the premises and parking spaces by KML
Engineering and the growth and operations of the Group.

K M L Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and owned as
to 78.2% by Golden Sail International Limited (“Golden Sail”), which
is wholly-owned by a trustee for a family trust where the beneficiaries
include Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung. Therefore, K M L Limited is an
associate of each of Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung, and hence is a
connected person of the Company.

The principal terms of the First Tenancy Agreement are set out below:

(i) The term of the First Tenancy Agreement is for a fixed term
commencing on the Listing Date and expiring on 31 March 2020
unless terminated earlier upon certain events of default as provided
in the First Tenancy Agreement.

(ii) For the year ended 31 March 2019, the monthly rent of
HK$383,000 per calendar month payable by KML Engineering
(exclusive of management fees, government rates and rent and
outgoings).

(iii) The maximum aggregate rent payable by KML Engineering under
the First Tenancy Agreement for the year ended 31 March 2019
sets out as below:

m

Maximum aggregate rent =

The actual aggregate rent payable by KML Engineering under the First
Tenancy Agreement for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to
approximately HK$4.6 million.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2018/19

HemsE

BERXS

RERARE - AEBEARREEAL(ABEEFRAA R
RETESMERRR LA THERS

FERRBEBERS

HEWHH

RZE—tFAA+TZR  ARFANZERB LR AR
RIRWEAEP) BEEERAT(EAZEET)FILEER
= ([EnHERR]) Bt BRERAFRAEASHARN
RIREEZSMERE TREM (FRRBRER) - &
EREFIZENHER A SAMRIEFEERDER
HERARAEENE R R EET = BYBE -

BiRER AR ARESEMA A A KEGolden Sail
International Limited ([ Golden Sail |) 7 78.2% * Golden
SallA—&XEARRGEL (LS ARIEEERLE LR
ZE)2EHEE - Bt - BIRER AR BEERLERER
THEEA  BAAQRWEEAL

BOEERRNEZEFERTX

() BEOHEHEBROHRD CRRIEREAEHEE
maﬂwma¥@@ # BRIKE L A ERE
ER-Z-ZF=A=1+—R3H-

iy BEZZE-NF-A=+—HLFE a\RIET
&ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁtﬁS%O%%nﬁT FEERE .
B - AR E) o

iy REBEE-_Z-AF=ZA=+—HILEE S5HK
TEREENHHEHBZENN RS ESREHSN
T

Maximum

aggregate rent

for the year

ended 31 March
2019

BE-Z—hF
ZA=+—BLFEW
BeHe#E
HK$’000

FERT

4,596

RBE-Z-NF=ZA=+"HALEFE =SHANKIER
BaEnEEHZRNNERESEERI6BBET -



(

Report of Directors
EEERE

During the Relevant Period, the independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the aforesaid continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that the transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(ii) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with relevant agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.

The external auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) has performed
the audit procedures regarding the continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group during the Relevant Period and based on its
work, the Auditor provided the Board with a letter confirming that, with
respect to the aforesaid continuing connected transaction:

i) the transactions have been approved by the Board;

(ii) the transactions were entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions; and

(i) the aggregate amounts of the transactions have not exceeded the
relevant caps as set by the Company.

On 3 September 2018, KML Engineering and K M L Limited entered into
the second tenancy agreement (“the Second Tenancy Agreement’),
pursuant to which KML Engineering agreed to rent additional premises
situated at the same building of the First Tenancy Agreement. The
applicable percentage ratios (other than the profit ratio) for the Second
Tenancy Agreement is less than 5% and under HK$3.0 million and
hence, these transactions, on a standalone basis, constitute de minimis
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Rule 20.74 of the GEM
Listing Rules and are fully exempt from the shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Relevant Period,
the Company had no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which fell to be disclosed in accordance with the provisions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions.

The related party transactions as disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted as connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
and in compliance with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company was not engaged
in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or
claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or
threatening against the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMINTY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, Directors and senior officers of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto, and
no Director or officer shall be liable for any loss, damages or misfortune
which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the execution of
the duties of his office or in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Company since the Listing Date.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Since 31 March 2019 to the Date of this Report, there was no important
events affecting the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the management and the
Auditor, reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the
Group and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 38 to 52 of this annual report.

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. Luk Yin Cheung, whose
biographical details are set out on page 17. The company secretary is
Ms. Woo Siu Wai who satisfies the qualification requirement under Rules
5.14 and 11.07 of the GEM Listing Rules as the company secretary of the
Company. Ms. Woo Siu Wai’s biographical details are set out on page 20
of this annual report.
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INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, Kingsway Capital
Limited (“Kingsway Capital”), neither Kingsway Capital nor any of its
directors or employees or close associates had any interest in the share
capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including options
or rights to subscribe for such securities) or otherwise in relation of the
Company which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant to
Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules and all Directors and the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates
as referred to in Rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules (except for the
compliance adviser service provided by Kingsway Capital as at the Date
of this annual report).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
shares, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by
the Stock Exchange and permitted under the GEM Listing Rules, was
held by the public at all times during the Relevant Period and up to the
date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was appointed as the Auditor for the year
ended 31 March 2019. The accompanying financial statements prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards have been
audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

On behalf of the Board

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 19 June 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.
During the Relevant Period, the Company has applied the principles as
set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules which are applicable to the Company and has complied with the
CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-
day management and operation of the Group. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established four Board
committees including the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”).
The Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set
out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors had carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect
of legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be
reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Composition
The Board comprises four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. LUK Kam Ming

Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung

Mr. LUK Yin Cheung

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAU On Kwok

Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. TSE Chi Kong

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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During the Relevant Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under Rules 5.05(1) and 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity
policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining the composition
of the Board, consider Board diversity in terms of, among other things,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merits, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity of the Board.

The Company has received the confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors about his independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company considers all of them to
be independent.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, none of
the Directors have any personal relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationship) with any other Directors
and the chief executive of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Risk Management Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations
and other significant commitments as well as the identity of the public
companies or organisations and the time involved to the Company, the
Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments and any subsequent
change to the Company in a timely manner.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Group’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities
under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides regular updates on latest development and changes in the GEM
Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from
time to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge his duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated
and provided the Directors with written training materials relating to the
roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed issuer on GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

ABEGHEEERR

ﬁﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁ?fiﬂﬁ§$fﬂ’éﬁ HA B ABIED R B - DATE
REEAREE R &%f%%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁ ER R
AIRRPITOEEREE TH - AARNESRRHEGEM £
mRAI R EMEREER K t%ﬂﬁmZ’Fﬁ BHERKED
MEHER - BEENERRREHEEBAEERR ARk
RIZHRNER  WEESE2RBLREEFTRITREMNE

=
5 o

ARFEBEF2EFESERRITE  UBRLEH
BEN BRI - ARBNATWE TR REEEH N
REAMBRPTIGEM LMBEITAEEAE - Bt LA
EEIFIIER -

The professional trainings of the Directors during the year ended 31 EEREHE T - NF-A=T—HLFELHENTEE
March 2019 are as follows: T

Directors Type of trainings (Notes)
E=x $ERNEE R (BEE)
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. LUK Kam Ming REdERR S & A B
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip BOBBE A A B
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung PR AE A B
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung EEELE A B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIHITES

Mr. LAU On Kwok BB &E A B
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen KRR E A B
Dr. TSE Chi Kong HERE L A, B
Notes: Biat -

A: Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or briefings A HETTER HEFERHiREREHRE

B: Reading materials relevant to corporate governance, director’s duties and B: HEPFER EFBEREF - _LTHAIREMIAREIEAS

responsibilities, listing rules and other relevant ordinances
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company
are currently two separate positions held by Mr. KM Luk and Mr. CL
Chan, respectively, with clear distinction in responsibilities. Mr. KM Luk
is responsible for devising strategies for the continuous development of
the Group, overseeing the Group’s business operations and financial
performance, as well as leading the Board in performing its functions while
Mr. CL Chan is responsible for managing the overall business operations
and executing business strategies of the Group.
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TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, subject to termination as provided in the service contract.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which may be renewable subject to
both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election
of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIRED STANDARDS OF
DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions in the securities of the
Company.

The Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors about their
compliance with the required standard of dealings for the year ended 31
March 2019, without noticing any violation of the required standard.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, risk management and internal control systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors are provided with sufficient
resources to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(ii) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(i)  to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manuals applicable to employees and the Directors;

(iv)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
on such matters;

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

(v to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistleblowing policy.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at
least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices
of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to
provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
despatched to the Directors or Board Committees members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they wil
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
make their views known to the chairman of the Board or the relevant
Board Committees prior to the meeting. Minutes of the meetings are kept
by the company secretary with copies circulated to all Directors to the
relevant Board Committees members for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committees meetings are
recorded in sufficient details about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors or the Board Committees members.
Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are
sent to the Directors or the Board Committees members for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committees are open for
inspection by Directors.
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During the Relevant Period, five board meetings and one general meeting
were held and the attendance of each Director at these meetings is set
out in the table below:

NAEBHRE  RETAREEEEER —ABERAE - &
EERZESFNHREBRIANRTE

Board meeting(s) General meeting(s)

Directors Attended/Held Attended/Held
SHE TE8T BHE BE8IT
X EEEEE BRAE
Executive Directors: HITES
Mr. LUK Kam Ming PSR RR S A 5/5 11
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip PRIBME ST 5/5 11
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung BEFRTAE 5/5 1/1
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung BEET %t 5/5 11
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUFHITES
Mr. LAU On Kwok BB k- 5/5 11
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen wxEEE 5/5 1/1
Dr. TSE Chi Kong HERE L 5/5 11
BOARD COMMITTEES BEEFZES
Audit Committee EREER

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. LAU On
Kwok (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen and Dr. TSE Chi Kong, all
of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

i) To review the relationship with the Auditor by reference to the work
performed by the Auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the Auditor;

(ii) To review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the auditor before submission to the Board;
and

@iy  To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, financial and accounting policies,
including the adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee had five meetings and one of the meetings with the
Company’s Auditor during the Relevant Period.
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During the Relevant Period up to the date of this annual report, the Audit
Committee had one meeting with the Auditor to discuss the annual audit
for the year ended 31 March 2019 with the following matters:

(i) reviewed the final results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2019 as well as the audit report prepared by the Auditor relating to
accounting issues and major findings in course of audit; and

(ii) reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
(including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function), and the re-
appointment of the Auditor; the Board had not deviated from any
recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the Auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members, namely
Mr. LUK Kam Ming (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen and Dr. TSE
Chi Kong, the majority of the committee is comprised by independent
non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

(i) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

(iii) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(iv)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and the succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. The
written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Policy on Directors Nomination

The Company has adopted a nomination policy stating the process
and criteria to select and recommend candidates for directorship
during the relevant period. In identifying suitable candidate qualified to
become Board members, the Nomination Committee shall consider the
attributes complementary to the Board, business experience and Board
Expertise and skills, availability, motivation, integrity and independence of
candidates.

The Nomination Committee had one meeting during the Relevant Period
to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
consider the re-appointments of the retiring Directors.

Board Diversity Policy
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy, a summary of which is
set out below:

i) With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development;

(ii) In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

@iy  All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

(ivy  Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board;

(v The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the Corporate
Governance Report, on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of this Policy; and

(v The Nomination Committee will review this Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure the effectiveness of this Policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Dr. TSE Chi Kong (chairman), Mr. LAU On Kwok and Mr. LUK
Kam Ming, the majority of the committee is comprised by independent
non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

)

(i)

(i)

V)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives determined by
the Board, and assess performance of executive Directors and the
terms of their service agreements;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
These include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors; and

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee had three meetings during the Relevant
Period to discuss, review and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
individuals during the Relevant Period are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements. Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the
CG Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management
(including Company Secretary and other than the Directors) whose
particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report for the year ended 31 March 2019 by
band is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HK$)

EEREREERESZMH
NEBHRE  EFRALRSHFMALTOFHFBHIIRN
FAPBmARNGES - RIBEEELTAISTANGXEBAS

ik

HEMENBERNBE - NF=A=1+—HILFE

WAFHREENEREERE | —HNaSREEEKE (2
ERRIWE REERIN) LEIAERIB S F BN T

Number of individuals

FEAER CET) AB
Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 833 1,000,000 % 7T 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /&7T % 1,500,000 /7T 0

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee comprises five members, namely Mr.
LAW Wing Chi Stephen (chairman), Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip, Mr. LAU
On Kwok, Mr. LUK Kwai Lung and Mr. LUK Yin Cheung.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee include the
following:

(i) to review the Group’s risk management system, including risk,
capital and liquidity management framework, the Group’s risk
tolerance capability, its risk policies and standards, and relevant
risk limits, including the parameters used and the methodology
adopted, and the processes used for identifying and assessing
risks;

(ii) to approve risk policies and standards, referring any new material
policies/standards or material changes to existing policies/
standards/limits to the Board for approval;

(iii) to discuss the risk management system with the management
and ensure that the management has performed its duties to
establish an effective system. The contents to be discussed
include the Company’s resources for risk management, adequacy
of qualifications and experiences of the employees, as well as
adequacy of training courses and relevant budgets available to the
employees;

(iv)  to review material risk exposures of the Group, including market,
credit, insurance, operational, liquidity, and economic and
regulatory capital risks against the Group’s risk measurement
methodologies and management actions to monitor and control
such exposures;

(v) to review annually the changes, since the last annual review, in
the nature and extent of significant risks, and the issuer’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment;
and

(v to review annually the effectiveness of the issuer’s processes for
financial reporting and compliance of the Listing Rules.
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The written terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Risk Management Committee had one meeting during the Relevant
Period to discuss and review risk management policy, internal control
manual, internal audit plan, internal audit report, risk management and
internal control systems.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS

R EIRE B & & E R B P A R R8s R]
HER -

RAEBHME  EREEZEGRITREGH  JwmhEH
RBERRE - WEREETFM - AEELEE - REEZ
HE - RREE R ABEESE -

ESHERESZZESERNER

Number of meetings attended/held

HEBTEERE
Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk
Committee Committee Committee Management
Directors =S Meeting Meeting Meeting Committee Meeting
ENZEEER REZEEER FHZEEEE EREEZEEEE
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. LUK Kam Ming P dERE ST A - 11 3/3 -
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip PeRiBk e H - - _ 11
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung [EZE=Exst - - _ 11
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung EEELLE - - _ 1/

Independent Non-Executive Directors BAEHTES
Mr. LAU On Kwok 2IZBEE 5/5 - 3/3 11
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen BoKERE 5/5 11 - 11
Dr. TSE Chi Kong AERIEL 5/5 11 3/3 -

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 which give a true and fair
view of the affairs of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Group’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concemn.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on

the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 69 to 74 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its responsibility to ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains sound risk management and
internal control systems within the Group and to review the effectiveness
of the systems. Such systems are designed to manage and mitigate
risks inherent in the Group’s business faced by the Group to an
acceptable level, but not eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Board has entrusted the Risk Management Committee with the
responsibility to oversee the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group on an on-going basis and to review the
effectiveness of the systems annually. The annual review covered all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure,
the management is responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of risk management and internal control systems to
ensure, amongst others, (i) appropriate policies and control procedures
have been designed and established to safeguard the Group’s assets
against improper use or disposal; (i) relevant laws, rules and regulations
are adhered to and complied with; and (i) that reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant
accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

The main features of risk management and internal control structure of the
Company are as follows:

i) Heads of each operation unit or department manage major
risks affecting the Group’s businesses and operations through
the processes of risk identification, risk assessment and
implementation of risk mitigation measures in accordance with
the internal guidelines approved by the Board and the Risk
Management Committee;

(ii) The management ensures appropriate actions are taken on major
risks affecting the Group’s businesses and operations; and

(iii) Internal audit functions provide independent assurance to the
Board, the Risk Management Committee and the management
concerning the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, major works performed by the
management in relation to risk management and internal control include
the following:

i) Reviewed the progress of the implementation of the mitigation plan
for the major risks identified for the year ended 31 March 2018;
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(ii) Identified new risks at corporate level for year ended 31 March
2019; and incorporated them into risk register for risk assessment;

(il  Conducted an annual review on effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls; and

(iv)  Reported the results of the risk assessment and internal audit to
the Risk Management Committee and the Board.

Based on the findings of the internal audit and the comments of the Risk
Management Committee, the Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Group has established procedures and internal controls for handling
and dissemination of inside information. The Group has reminded the
employees about due compliance with the policy regarding the inside
information.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy facilitating the Shareholders
and investors to make informed investment decisions relating to the
Company during the relevant period. In considering whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall consider
the following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:
(i) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(ii) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(i)  the Groups’ working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(iv)  the Group’s liquidity position;
(v) business conditions and strategies;
(vi)  future operations and earnings;

(vij)  reasonable return in investment to the shareholders and investors;
and

(vii)  other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company shall also subject to
any restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws, any applicable laws, rules

and regulations, any restrictions that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders, if any and the Company’s articles of associations.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
Auditor to the Group during the Relevant Period was approximately as

follows:

Type of Services

A B 6 35 A

RERMRE - ZBEIRARBERENEZRIEERRED
FrEMBLR T

Amount (HK$'000)

RigER SE(THEL)
Audit services EZRTE 1,200
Non-audit services (Note) AL RS (ML) 45
Total 1ast 1,245

Note :  For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group has engaged the Auditor and their
affiliate companies to provide non-audit services which include (i) tax service; and
(ii) audit of retirement scheme.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. WOO Siu Wai, the company secretary of the Company, is responsible
for advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that the Board policies and procedures, as well as the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are followed.

During the Relevant Period, Ms. Woo have undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training respectively in compliance with Rule
5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the
Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the
informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provides opportunity for the
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman
of the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees will attend
the annual general meetings s to answer Shareholders’ questions. The
Auditor will also attend the annual general meetings to answer questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the
auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a shareholders’
communication policy which aims at establishing a two-way relationship
and communication between the Company and the Shareholders
and maintains a website of the Company at www.kml.com.hk,
where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are available for public access.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will
be proposed for each issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting of the Company according to the Articles of Association. Any
one or more members holding as at date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters of
the Company at B12, G/F, Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted an Amended and Restated Memorandum
and Articles of Association pursuant to written resolutions passed by all
Shareholders on 20 September 2017 when preparing for the listing of
the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange. The Amended and
Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association became effective on
the Listing Date. An up-to-date version of the Company’s Memorandum
and Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is delighted to present its second Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) report, which highlights its ESG performance for the
year ended 31 March 2019 (“the Reporting Period”) for the purpose of
assisting all stakeholders in understanding the Group’s key ESG concepts
and practices in achieving sustainable development for the future.

This report covers the Group’s principal business and operations in Hong
Kong including the provision of E&M engineering solutions and services,
E&M engineering design and fabrication services and E&M engineering
maintenance services, unless otherwise specified.

This report is prepared in accordance with the Appendix 20 -
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (‘ESG Guide”)
under the GEM Listing Rules. Information regarding the Group’s
Corporate Governance is addressed in the annual report in accordance
with Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Stakeholder engagement

The Group understands the importance of building and maintaining
successful relationships with our stakeholders (shareholders,
employees, customers, partners, subcontractors, suppliers, community,
certification bodies, non-governmental organisations, statutory bodies
and government departments) in order to achieve long term success
and sustainability. To maintain the stakeholder engagement on an on-
going basis, the Group has developed effective internal and external
communication channels, such as regular and ad-hoc meetings, interim
and quarterly results announcements, the Group’s website, instant
communication applications, briefings, training and workshops, staff
performance appraisal. In addition, the Group has sent questionnaires to
our stakeholders to collect their feedback on the first ESG report as well
as understand their expectations on the disclosure of relevant ESG issues
for this report.

Materiality Assessment
Based on the results of engagement activities mentioned above, the
following ESG issues are considered to be material to the Group:
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ESG aspects as set out in ESG Guide
BB HERERESIMENEE HERERER
A. Environmental Al Emissions
RIE HERm
A2  Use of Resources
BIR{EA
A3  The Environment and Natural Resources
RIERRAER

Material ESG issues of the Group
FEBHERRE - HERERERE
° Construction waste management
REEREE TR
o Energy consumption
BEIRERE
. Noise management
BREEIE
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ESG aspects as set out in ESG Guide
RS ERERESIMBRNEE tERERER

Material ESG issues of the Group
AEENERRE HBRERBE

B. Social B1 Employment o Employment practices
e (=5 EEFR
o Compensation and benefits
#HFREF
B2  Health and safety o Occupational health and safety
REET S BERERLTS
° Work environment
TFRS
B3  Development and training o Training and development for employees
R R IEF EEFIIRER
B4  Labour standards ° Anti-child and forced labour
45 T 2R REIREHST
B5  Supply chain management o Supply chain practices
HEsE IR HEsEE D
B6  Product responsibility o Quiality management
EmEE EEEIE
o Personal data privacy
[EPN=E=F TN
B7  Anti-corruption o Corporate integrity
K& ERZR
. Whistle-blowing mechanism
BRI
B8  Community investment . Corporate social responsibility
HEREE rEMEEE
Feedback REBEER

Comments and suggestions regarding the Group’s ESG performance
are always welcome and can be sent to the Group at kmlinfo@kml.com.
hk. We value your feedback on our ESG Report. Your valuable feedback
would greatly help us continuously improve our sustainable performance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

Environmental Management and Compliance

As a responsible engineering contractor, the Group has established an
environmental management system (“EMS”) to manage environmental
risks as well as its significant environmental aspects such as use of
energy, use of natural resources, air/energy emissions and waste
generation for sustainable development of the Group and the protection
of the environment. Moreover, regular internal audits on the effectiveness
and level of compliance of EMS are carried out, and management review
is conducted at least annually to ensure continuing suitability, adequacy
and effectiveness of EMS.

The efforts of the implementation of EMS for the company along with
its two subsidiaries (KML Engineering and KML Technology) have been
recognized that all 3 companies have been successfully certified with the
ISO 14001:2015 in one time during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had complied with all relevant
requirements including the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Air Pollution
Control (Construction Dust) Regulation, Motor Vehicle Idling (Fixed
Penalty) Ordinance, Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General)
Regulation of Waste Disposal Ordinance, Waste Disposal (Charges for
Disposal of Construction Waste) Regulation, Noise Control Ordinance,
Noise Control (General) Regulation and Noise Control (Hand Held
Percussive Breakers) Regulations.

Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

There are two major sources of air and greenhouse gases (“GHG”)
emissions during our business activities, namely (i) use of electricity
in head offices; and (iij consumption of fuels in vehicles for delivering
materials from the warehouses to project sites. The Group supports the
use of more environmental-friendly fuels and has been closely monitoring
the fuel consumption as well as the vehicle usage. Maintenance services
to the vehicles are regularly arranged to ensure engine performance and
efficient use of fuel.

In addition, the Group has scheduled to replace some old high energy-
consumption and low efficient vehicles with eco-friendly and/or energy
efficient models with an objective in reducing emissions from vehicles.

Regarding the reduction initiatives of electricity, please refer to section
headed “Electricity” in this ESG Report.
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The following table highlights the air emission data of the Group.

TREGEAS EHORERIIEUR

2019 2018

—E-NF —N\F
Type of emission Amount (in kilograms (“kg”))
EERBERRIE R HRE(AF)
Nitrogen oxides (“NO,”) agt (INO, 1) 70.60 72.09
Sulphur oxides (“SO,”) Tty (SO, ) 0.34 0.37
Particulate Matter (“PM”) TR F ([PM)) 6.35 6.47
The following table highlights the GHG emission data, in tonnes in terms TREMAEENEEREEREE (A _EIEE
of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO,-eq”), of the Group. An increase in the (TZ&iEE D) - BRMVFENREHNRERE
amount of GHG emission in the Reporting Period is observed, which is B EAEIN - TEREMENE : (\PAEFEES

mainly arisen from two sources: (i) purchased electricity in offices; and (i)
the necessary business travel associated with overseas projects, despite
of intensive communication via call conference as well as e-mail. The
increase of the use of electricity will be further discussed in the section
headed “Electricity” in this ESG Report.

&(ii)ﬁif?l\kﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬂ'}%x%ﬁﬁ BECDRBEEFESE
BEEITHEYER SRNMERERE -t RER
WwETEN] *Eﬁiﬁ**’lﬁurﬂa o

%

2019 2018
—E—-hE —N\F
Scope Sources of emission Amount (in tCO,-eq)
E BEBORIR P E (UM =S L E &5
1. Direct emissions Combustion of stationary sources 0.21 0.36
BEEHER B TEpR IR
Combustion of mobile sources 61.97 66.24
TRENFREGEIR
Unintentional releases (Note a) 14.81 7.95
mERWM (Wita)
2. Energy indirect emissions Purchased electricity in offices 144.38 138.12
BEIR B R MAEBEEEN
3. Other indirect emissions (Note b) Business air travel (Note c) 10.51 2.64
H B (M7t b) RBEIR (Hatc)
Total GHG Emission RERBAEBINE 231.88 215.31
Total GHG Intensity (Note d) BERBEEZE (Mitd) 1.07 0.98

Notes:

(@) The unintentional releases are mainly due to the uses of air conditioning equipment
in the head offices.

b) The Group chose to disclosure the emissions associated with business air travel as
there are negligible emissions due to disposal of paper waste, electricity used for
fresh water processing and sewage processing.

() The GHG emission from business air travel is calculated based on the International

Civil Aviation Organization (“IACO”) carbon emissions calculator.

(d) Intensity is calculated based on the amount of the GHG emission divided by the
average number of full-time employees (“FTE") during the Reporting Period.
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Waste Management

The Group upholds environmentally friendly manner in managing waste
within its business operations. We promote and support 8R principles,
i.e. “Reduce, Reuse, Recycle, Responsibility, Replace, Repair, Respect,

Rethink”, to minimize waste generation at source.

During the course of our operations, chemical wastes including surplus
paint, spent mineral oil and waste batteries/unwanted printed circuit
boards would be generated. Being a registered waste producer under the
Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation of Waste Disposal
Ordinance, we ensure the chemical wastes have been properly labelled,
packaged, stored temporarily at a designated chemical waste storage
area prior to their collection by licensed waste recyclers and collectors for

disposal.

The amount of chemical wastes generated by the Group during the

Reporting Period is tabulated below:

B EE
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N EEE, S HREERIEIR o (EREEYR B I&HIREE
MERE (L2EEY) (—R)ROITHEREMELE - B
BARCBEYDEE KRR - 2% BRFRNEEE
BRERMERREA - ARSI B A s Y
BRIR o

AREENRERNELNCREYETIRNAT -

2019 2018

—Z-hEF —E-N\F
Type of chemical waste Amount (in kg)
L2 EEYE R BEE (D)
Surplus paint FIERRR 0 1,900
Spent mineral oil FEWEY) 0 0
Waste batteries/Unwanted printed circuit boards EE, S DRI E AR 0 0
Total hazardous waste B=E 0 1,900
Total hazardous waste intensity (Note) BEREMEE 0 8.63
Note: i

Intensity is calculated based on the amount of the total hazardous waste divided by the

average number of FTE during the Reporting Period.

Regarding non-hazardous wastes, two major sources identified are:

i) construction wastes generated in the project sites are sent to
waste disposal facilities under the Construction Waste Disposal
Charging Scheme of Waste Disposal (Charges for Disposal of

Construction Waste) Regulation; and

(ii) residential/domestic wastes generated from daily activities in our
head offices are disposed by the building management.

The Group currently does not report on the total non-hazardous waste
produced and intensity. We plan to disclose the information in the future.
During the Reporting Period, it was recorded that a total of approximately
50.16 tonnes (2018: approximately 68.49 tonnes) construction wastes

were ultimately transported to landfill.
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The Group continues to implement the following initiatives to reduce
waste production. Examples include:

0} incorporate waste reduction ideas in staff induction trainings;

(ii) place trays to collect stationery supplies such as envelope,
document and file folders for re-use;

(i) post eye-catching reminders at individual desktops to promote the
concepts of using paper wisely and efficiently, such as think before
you print and adopt double sided printing;

(iv)  place paper boxes near printers to collect single-sided printed
papers for re-use;

(v) re-use the packaging materials (paper boxes, protective foam etc.)
for protecting materials or products during transportation/delivery
where appropriate; and

(v  provide recycle facilities/allocated a designated area in office to
encourage sorting and recycling of useful materials, including but
not limited to paper, plastics and aluminum cans.

The waste reduction effort by KML Engineering is recognized by Hong
Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence. KML Engineering has been
awarded “Class of Excellence” Wastewi$e Certificate since year 2013.

Looking ahead, the Group has planned to issue paperless ESG report
next year, in order to further minimize the paper usage.

Uses of Resources

Electricity

The Group strives to reduce its resources consumption mainly electricity,
thereby reducing costs and promoting the long-term environmental and
economic sustainability of its operations.

During the previous and this Reporting period, in addition to the
implementation of multiple administrative measures, including but not
limited to, awareness training and switching off machineries/electrical
appliances not in use, the Group has accomplished most renovation
works in offices. From the planning stage of the renovation project, the
Group has considered various environmental initiatives. Those have been
implemented includes but not limited to:

i) adopt an open plan office, which remove excess lighting and air
conditioning systems;

(ii) replace some old/inefficient split type air conditioners with more
energy-efficient inverter split type air conditioners;

(ii) replace window type air conditioners by installing split type air
conditioners in designated locations; and

(iv) replace most T8 light pipes by LED/T5 light pipes.
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Our endeavours in combating climate change through the reduction of its
electricity consumption were affirmed through the Power Smart Energy
Saving Contest 2017-18 organized by the Friends of the Earth (HK), and
the Group has awarded the Champion of Highest Percentage Saver
Award (Organization).

During the Reporting Period, the Group has participated in Earth Hour
2019 with the theme “Reduce, Reuse, Change the Way We Live” and
committed to cherish natural resources, make smart, eco-friendly choices
in our works and daily lives and reduce wastage, especially single-use
plastics to safeguard our future Earth. In addition, we have participated
in the “9th No Air con Night 2018” campaign for the first time to enhance
the employees’ awareness about energy saving and wise use of air-
conditioning.

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed certain amount of
energies, in kilowatt hour (“kWh”) or litres (“L”), as stated below:

BIEBRPRE  BOERRERE NS - B2 TH
BRI B [ IR IEBERELL 2 2017/18] RBAT » R
AEEESDRAD AR (KBE)EE -

RERR - AEBEG2EE@EA 21 - B2 - i
& BT R | IR —/ N 20197E ) - WEREEEBA A
B ERFANTEMBEEERIEHBEE BRORE
KR EEEY - LHEAEBRE - MREBRARR o I
G BER2 T ENEESRE 2018158 - UZE
EEBERE NEEFEATHANEM -

RBMERA AEEEEETATESE(ED HAT
([ D) ateveel - #udan T -

Type of energy 2019 2018 Amount (Unit)
BEIR A B —E-NF ZZE-N\F &2 (B)
1. Direct energy consumption
HHEALRHFE
Diesel g5 5,465 5,734 L
Unleaded petrol Ei3 T DR 16,267 18,669 F
2. Indirect energy consumption
AR ERE
Electricity Bh 283, 105 270, 820 kWh
B
Type of energy 2019 2018 Intensity (Unit)
BEREE R —E-NF —E-N\F RE (B)
1. Direct energy consumption
BEALRER
Diesel 45 12.63 13.03 L (Note a)
Unleaded petrol U 7.22 7.45 F(Hiita)
2. Indirect energy consumption
BRI B FE
Electricity BN 1,308.65 1,230.54 kWh (Note b)
& (K15tb)
Notes: Hiat -
(a) Intensity is calculated based on the amount of direct energy consumption divided (@) EETIIRIE B 1E RE R FEE R X RS B )T E T2 A R 2
by the average number of vehicles and the average number of FTE during the 1ESHTFIE2AE -
Reporting Period.
(b) Intensity is calculated based on the amount of the indirect energy consumption (b) tz?&,; TR IR T B8R EFEZ R A SR E I £ B E S 1P 1520 H

divided by the average number of FTE during the Reporting Period.

e -
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The electricity consumption in intensity has approximately 6.3% increase
when compared to the previous reporting period. This difference is mainly
due to the fact that most of the operating machines were idle for certain
periods during renovations in the previous reporting period, and they have
been resumed working during this Reporting Period.

Water

The majority of our water consumption are arisen from the daily activities
in our head office. The Group does not have any difficulty in sourcing
water. During the Reporting Period, the amount of water consumption is
negligible to be reported. Despite of the insignificant water consumption,
the Group has actively strived for improving our water efficiency. Apart
from a regular monitoring on water usage, together with continuous water
conservation education via employee induction and signage posting, the
Group will continue to install dual flush water closets and replace some
traditional faucets with motion sensing faucets in the washrooms during
the remaining office renovation works.

Total Packaging Material Used for Finished Products

The packaging materials, such as plastic wrapping, bubble sheet/cushion
wrap and carton boxes, used for the finished products were negligible to
be reported.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Noise generation during loading/unloading materials or the use of
powered mechanical equipment for drilling/concrete breaking is inevitable
at our working sites.

The Group has established and implemented various noise mitigation
measures to minimize any adverse impacts on the environment and the
public. Examples include:

i) strategic planning of work to minimize the frequency of noise
generating activities;

(ii) strategic scheduling of work to minimize high noise level activities
during noise sensitive hours;

(iii) choose quiet and low-noise level powered mechanical equipment;
and

(iv)  adopt acoustic enclosures where necessary.
SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

Employment Policy and Compliance

The Group understands that employees are its valuable assets. Without
the employees and their expertise, the Group could hardly maintain
and excel its industry position. The Group is dedicated to fair and equal
treatment in all areas of human resources management, including
recruitment, training and promotion, compensation and dismissal, working
hours, diversity and other benefits and welfare.
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In terms of recruitment, we values diversity in its workforce, hence the
Group recruits people solely based on their ability and attitude, regardless
of their gender, race, disability. The Group has a code of business
conduct (the “Code”), in relation to prevent age, disability, sex and family
status discrimination and sexual harassment, which clearly mentioned
a disciplinary action would be taken against the staff if violation is
discovered.

The Group rewards its employees with competitive salary package, which
is subjected to annual review with reference to comparable market level.
Apart from offering remuneration package with discretionary performance
bonus to our employees, the Group also offers share option scheme to
the selected senior staff for further encouraging our employees to grow
with the Group and to reinforce their loyalty.

Our employees are entitled to have sick leave, injury leave, maternity leave
and paternity leave. Other benefits, such as medical and hospitalisation
insurance, life insurance and education and training sponsorship, marriage
leave and compassionate leave are offered for eligible staff. Additionally,
team building activities, such as local tour, Christmas party and annual
dinner to enhance employees’ sense of belongings, have been organized
annually.

During the Reporting Period, KML Engineering has been a Signatory of
the Good Employer Charter 2018 under Labour Department; and pledged
to adopt employee-oriented good human resources management
practices. The Group has complied with all applicable laws and
regulations relating to labour (i.e. Employment Ordinance) and receive no
unfair and unequal cases.
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Safety and Health Policies and Compliance

Safety, health and loss prevention bring long term benefits to the
company. They are equally important and complementary to sustainable
development in quality and profit and therefore are taken as top priority
commitment. We commit to strictly comply with all relevant safety and
health regulatory requirements in our Safety, Health and Loss Prevention
Policy. The policy is implemented and managed by the Safety and Health
team, which is oversighted by a director.

Regarding project safety management, site surveys will be carried out
in order to facilitate the identification, analysis and evaluation processes
of the hazards if considered necessary. The method statements, safety
management plan and risk assessment incorporating recommended
control measures will then be generated for those high risk activities by
adopting the hierarchy of risk control. Designated site supervisors are
assigned to the projects for ensuring the works done in accordance with
the safety and project requirements.

Safety training is a major preventive measure for addressing safety and
health risks. In addition to induction training, specific training sessions and
site-specific briefings are regularly held according to employees’ roles
and responsibilities to ensure awareness of job hazards and conformity
to safety practices. Training contents are reviewed and reported to the
management by the safety officer regularly.

Regular safety inspections and internal safety audits are carried out by
safety officers and safety auditors in order to check the implementation of
safety management practices to eliminate unsafe conditions and unsafe
acts and the compliance of all relevant requirements. Any instances
of non-compliance and accidents are recorded and are subject to
investigation and corrective actions. Further inspection is undertaken to
avoid recurrence. Significant non-compliance is communicated across the
Group as a reminder to prevent similar cases from occurring again. Any
employees or workers including those from subcontractors found to be
deliberately and consistently in breach of regulations and instructions on
safety and health may be subject to disciplinary actions.

During the Reporting Period, KML Engineering has been awarded the
2017-18 Contractor Safety Performance Award, and its safety initiatives
implemented in the project sites were commended again by one of our
key customers.
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Meanwhile, the Group has been actively participated in "Construction
Industry Safety Award Scheme 2018/2019”, to promote awareness of
Occupational Safety and Health and advocate the importance of electricity
safety. The Group has also been awarded a “Certificate of Appreciation”
of the site safety competition under Construction Industry Safety Award
Scheme 2018/2019.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operations have complied with
all relevant laws and regulations relating to workplace safety and health,
including Occupational Health and Safety Ordinance as well as Factories
and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance. With good communication and
stringent implementation of safety control measures, the Group has
reported no work-related accidents and injuries from employees. The key
safety performance are summarized as below:

FE - NEEDEBRRE[2018/2019 FERIE ¥R 2 5E)
Al AR MRS NIREENLENEE
Mo RNEBIRD HER [2018/2019F B it ¥ %2 2 1BE) T
Bl BT BT BN [Eiik] o
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2019 2018
—B-hEF —E-N\F
Safety Performance Data
ZERE Big
1. Work-related fatalities Number of time(s) 0 0
HTERRAMNILT FN RE
Work-related fatalities Rate (per 1,000 employees) 0.00% 0.00%
HTERANETE(E1,0004EE)
Work-related fatalities Rate (per 100,000 man hours) 0.00% 0.00%
BT {EBRAEVSL T (5 100,000 L)
2. Lost days due to work-related injuries Number of day(s) 0 7
TGRS B TIEREIBL A#
3. Work-related accidents Number of time(s) 0 2
HTIEERNEN REN
No. of accidents per 1,000 employees 0.00% 9.09%
FHE(F1,0004EE)
No. of accidents per 100,000 man hours worked 0.00% 0.41%

FHHE (100,000 TEF)
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Safety and Health Initiatives

For the health sake of our employees, the Group has offered them free-
of-charge influenza prevention vaccination annually since Year 2010
and fruit weekly since Year 2012. During the Reporting Period, we have
implemented two proactive measures to reduce safety and health risks
at work site: () provided wearable portable waist fans to our colleague to
prevent heat stroke; and (i) dispense insect repellents to them for dengue
fever prevention.

The Group has allocated additional resources for engaging external safety
professionals to offer tailor-made in-house trainings to our site supervisory
staff in next reporting period.

Development and Training

The Group provides an open and friendly but challenging environment for
all employees. Training budgets are planned annually in order to ensure
adequate allocation of resources available for offering our employees with
opportunities for developing their skills and competency through in house
and external professional training.

According to our training policies, management staff evaluate and assess
their subordinates’ training needs regularly so that our employees can
support their career enhancement in line with our business needs by
acquiring the necessary skills, knowledge and qualifications.

During the Reporting Period, various in-house training has been
conducted. Examples of in-house training highlighted as follows:

i) Comprehensive employees induction trainings;

(ii) Environmental, safety and health awareness trainings;
(iii) Policies and procedures trainings;

(iv)  Internal audit and supplier audit trainings;

(v) Introduction and Implementation of ISO 14001:2015 Environmental
Management Systems;

(vi) Permit-to-works systems refresh trainings; and
(vi)  Consultancy coaching, in relation to project management planning
cycle, problem solving tools, project issue management, project

implementation and execution, leadership skills, economical and
technological trends, conflicts management and personality test.
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Apart from the in-house trainings, the Group also offers a wide range of
external training opportunities. Examples of training opportunities offered
during the Reporting Period include, but are not limited to:

(i) Software trainings;
(ii) Technical and factory visits;
(iii) Contract technology and management;

(iv)  Safety-related courses organized by the Occupational Safety &
Health Council and Construction Industry Council;

(v) Safety supervisory or management courses; and

(v  Symposia, forums, seminars, briefings and professional trainings
organized by our customers, suppliers, engineering institutes
or federation, management associations, statutory bodies,
professional bodies and ISO certification bodies.

Looking ahead, the Group plans to provide coaching and mentoring to
the engineering graduates to further develop their professionalism and
leadership.

Labour Standards

The Group has a “Respect of Ethics, Human and Labour Rights Policy”
which demonstrates our commitment to supporting and respecting the
rights of individuals and working communities. We respect and observe
all the applicable laws and regulations in the countries we operate and
support the international principles of human and labour rights, including,
but not limited to, the areas of child labour and forced labour, such as the
International Labour Organization Declaration on Fundamental Principles
and Rights at Work and the United Nations Global Compact.

The recruitment process is strictly abided by the guidelines of the Human
Resource and Administration Department, a recruitment form is used
to collect personal, educational, and employment information of job
applicants, and as such all necessary data related to employment is
verified and the proper and right candidate would be hired in accordance
to the job requirement and candidates’ expectation for a healthy and
sustainable workforce.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws and regulations
(including but not limited to: “Employment of Children Regulations”,
“Employment Ordinance”, etc.) in Hong Kong that would have a
significant impact on the Group.
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Supply Chain Management

The Group recognises the positive influence we have on our suppliers and
subcontractors, and therefore we continuously improve our performance
by incorporating good corporate social responsibility practices into supply
chain management processes and, as a result, mitigating and managing
risks which might affect our operations.

The Group has maintained our own approved vendor list and updates the
list regularly in order to maintain sufficient suppliers and sub-contractors
for selection. As at 31 March 2019, the Group has 594 suppliers,
including 452 in Hong Kong, 96 in China and 46 in oversea countries.

HEEEEE

AEEFRAZMEHER LD BBORGEE - Bt - &
FRERRIFNEET SR EERAAREEEIRRRE
FERS BN LHEMRE N ER AR B HAIEBFHE

G o
v

AEBBAERMECHRERERRE  WEMENRE
AR R ER R BB UHEE - RZZ-NF=A
=+ —H AEEHBEL04FHER - AP 452 BN E
7 96 BRRPEL K 46 BANBIMNEZR -

As at As at
31 March 2019 31 March 2018
R=-B—h#&E R-ZE—N\F
=A=+—H =A=+—~H
Number of suppliers

Geographical Region of Vendors HEFNLE HEmSE
Hong Kong B 452 383
China m 96 55
Oversea countries EINER 46 46

To ensure the quality of the raw materials and subcontractors’ services,
smaller projects would be assigned to the newly engaged subcontractors
as a way to pre-assess whether their services comply with the Groups’
specific project requirements.

In our engineering projects, safety and environmental briefings are
delivered by the safety officers to raise safety and environmental
awareness and implement our safety and environmental management
policy on the sub-contractor’s level. The training information is recorded
and reviewed by the internal auditors regularly. The quality, environmental,
safety and health performance of sub-contractors are also evaluated
as a part of our operational control as mentioned under section headed
“Safety and Health Policies and Compliance” and section headed “Quality
Management” in this ESG report.

In addition to the regular monitoring during the project implementation,
performance reviews with regards to their quality, safety and
environmental performance, are conducted on key approved vendors and
all newly engaged vendors annually to minimise the associated risks in our
supply chain.

Product Responsibility

Quality Management

It is the policy of the Group, in executing operations at all time in such
manner to ensure the customers’ satisfaction and full compliance of
statutory and other requirements in terms of quality, environment, health
and safety in the projects. The key operations in one of our subsidiaries,
KML Engineering, has been qualified to ISO 9001:2015 for quality
management since January 2017.
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According to our quality procedures, our project management team
will carry out regular quality check and inspection in order to ensure
that works done by our employees and subcontractors conform to
the contractual specifications during the course of implementation
and execution of the project. Any product that has failed to meet the
standards is rectified by its project team before its delivery to our
customers. In the event of receiving complaint, we will take prompt
actions to investigate the issue and carry out remediate action plans.
Corrective and preventive measures will be followed to avoid re-
occurrence.

Regularly progress meetings with our customers are conducted
throughout the project cycle where our project manager will report the
progress to the customer, discuss the major issues encountered and
obtain customer’s feedbacks. In addition, we proactively seek feedback
from our customers by conducting satisfaction surveys among customers
at the end of projects, thereby contributing into continual improvements.
For maintenance projects, the Group collects their feedbacks and records
any suggestions or compliant in the service report.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any incidents
of non-compliance with regulations concerning the Group’s products
and services, including but not limited to product and service safety and
health, advertising and labelling.

Protection of Personal Data Privacy

The Group emphasizes the importance to protecting personal data
privacy and the compliance to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. As
stipulated in the Group’s procedure, employees are instructed of their
responsibility to ensure data is collected, processed, used, maintained,
managed, stored and handled properly and secured appropriately. Any
leakage of confidential information to the third parties is strictly prohibited.

During the Reporting Period, there was no complaint concerning
breaches of data privacy reported to the Group.

Anti-corruption

The Group has zero tolerance on any form of bribery and corruption.
The Code was established to describe the responsibilities to a variety of
stakeholders ranging from shareholders, suppliers, contractors, clients to
community. The code and the Staff Handbook also guide and encourage
ethical employees’ conduct, including:

(i) Compliance with anti-corruption laws under HKSAR;

(ii) Prevention of bribery, illegal gifts and commission against Bribery
Ordinance;

(iii) Proper handling situations involving a conflict of interest; and

(iv)  Prohibition of any forgery or deceptive accounting methods and
records.

To enforce the consciousness of anti-corruption, the Group has
incorporated the guidances into the training materials in the staff induction
training.
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In addition to the Code, the Group establishes a whistle-blowing policy
that details the procedures of handling employees’ report on suspected
misconduct, malpractice or impropriety on a confidential basis. Following
a report, a designated senior officer conducts an investigation on behalf
of the Risk Management Committee. Results of the investigation including
the final disposition, impact, implications, and disciplinary or corrective
actions are reported to the Risk Management Committee and to the
Board and/or regulatory authorities where appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any breach of
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other laws and regulations relating to
corruption, nor any legal cases concerned with corrupt practices brought
against the Group or our employees.

Community Investment

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to nurturing
the social responsibilities of our colleagues in our daily operation as
well as daily life through the participation and promotion in a variety of
community projects, ranging from reducing waste generation, combating
climate change and raising public awareness of construction safety.
The relevant involvements has been discussed in the sections headed
“Waste Management”, “Electricity” and “Safety and Health Policies and
Compliance” in this ESG Report.

As part of the Group’s strategic development, we are also committed
to supporting the youth and the educational institutions by the means
of contribution and cooperation. KML Engineering has been offering
scholarship to students studying in IVE since year 2001. During the
Reporting Period, KML Engineering has continued to receive ‘Certificate
of Appreciation’ from branches in Chai Wan, Haking Wong, Tsing Yi and
Shatin respectively.

In addition to the donation, KML Engineering has engaged in IVE’'s
Industrial Attachment & Industry-Based Student Project scheme since
year 2013. During the Reporting Period, over 15 students joined our
company to practice their knowledge, conduct research study and
experience a real-life organisational context. Through the supervision
and feedback from the mentors, the students developed skills regarding
engineering, valuable to their professional development.

KML Engineering offered short term internship opportunity for the
“Workplace Experience Program for Youth” organized by Lions Club
International District 303-Hong Kong & Macao, China for the first
time. Three number of junior secondary students visited our offices
and attended briefings with the aim to increase their awareness of the
development of industry and learned how to enhance their competitive
edge before continuing their studies by understanding more of the job
requirements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB E

To the SHAREHOLDERS of KML TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KML
Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 75 to 143,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“‘HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

RRERER

KETRERL RRRBHEA W as REA KT

We identified the revenue from electrical and mechanical
(“E&M”) engineering solutions and services, including
those from contract revenue, variation orders and contract
claims (“Contract Revenue”) and contract costs as a key
audit matter as they are quantitatively significant to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and there are
significant judgments exercised by the management of the
Group in determining the outcome of the projects as well
as the stage of completion of construction works and the
amount of Contract Revenue recognised.

As disclosed in notes 6 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Contract Revenue and the contract
costs for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to
approximately HK$173,011,000 and HK$117,646,000
respectively. As described in notes 17 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements, the contract assets
and contract liabilities as at 31 March 2019, amounted to
HK$49,333,000 and HK$17,145,000 respectively.

As disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, the budget contract costs are prepared by the
management on the basis of estimation of direct labour
costs to incur and quotations from time to time provided
by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved and
the experience of the management and the engineering
solutions and service contract revenue is recognised
based on the management’s estimate, such as the budget
contract costs and collectability of contract claims, of each
contract’s outcome and stage of completion.

AR ERE(HE]) TIRERT RRRBEN KRR (B
KEEHWE - BB ERAOBRRNEE) (&R ])
REHRARERBREZSZER > DRRESREEWH
HEROBRME - UR BEEERERETAMER NG
RAFEET RN TREMATERNE QO Ra S ERTT
LRI EARHVEFFAE

PG AR ERERMACRIMBEE 22— H
FZAZT " ALFENEGHNREZRENREAD R A
173,011,000 7T & 117,646,000 78 7T 4R S B isiHek
W17 R18ATHESE R=T—hWF=A=+—HEHE
ENAYaERED R A 49,333,000 7T 5 17,145,000 78
5T o
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HEEZEE (H)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REGHFRMEEARERSTENSR

Contract revenue from engineering solutions and services and contract costs

Our procedures in relation to Contract Revenue and contract costs
included:

Understanding the management’s assessment on the budget costs
and how the management evaluates the accuracy of the budget
costs;

Discussing with the project managers, and the management of
the Group and evaluating the basis of the preparation and periodic
reviews of the budget contract costs,

Obtaining the breakdown of budget contract costs and checking
the quotations provided by major contractors, suppliers or vendors,
to evaluate the reasonableness of the management’s estimation of
the budget contract costs, on a sample basis;

Checking the basis of the budgeted revenue to underlying
engineering solutions and service contracts, purchase orders on a
sample basis;

Recalculating the stage of completion based on the proportion that
revenue recognised with reference to the proportion that contract
cost incurred for work performed to date relative to the budget
contract costs;

Agreeing the contract costs incurred for the year ended 31 March
2019 to the amount of costs recorded in the direct labour costs,
subcontractor payment certificates and supplier invoices, on a
sample basis; and

Assessing the appropriateness of the contract assets and contract
liabilities by checking to the amount of costs recorded in the direct
labour costs, subcontractor payment certificates and supplier
invoices, or progress billing, on a sample basis.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

REERER

HEEZEE (H)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REZTRMEERFFLIANTR

Estimated provision of expected credit losses (“ECL”) for trade receivables and contract assets

BEEUS AR ENEEREERE ([FBHEEFRA ) G1EE

Our procedures in relation to the ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets included:

We identified the estimated provision of ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter due
to its significance to the consolidated financial statements
and significant management judgments and estimates °
involved in determining the allowance for credit losses.

As disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial °
statements, the management of the Group estimates

the amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables and
contract assets individually for debtors with significant o
balances and/or collectively based on provision matrix
through grouping of various debtors that have similar

loss patterns, after considering internal credit ratings of

trade debtors, ageing, repayment history and/or past due

status of respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates

are based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward- o
looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort.

As disclosed in note 14 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 March 2019
was HK$41,146,000 (net with HK$117,000 loss allowance
recognised), and HK$49,333,000 (net with HK$93,000 loss
allowance recognised) respectively.

BMKEZEEFTIRREHNEENTAREEERGEE

NEREEEEBRERR Y RENEIRE ARG -

WA M BHRERMESMEE  KEREBANANREE
A SESEEFCANEERES R SRaHRRE - &
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BEEERESEY HETERNE - FIEEAEREHR .
VBTSN R sl 5t B 18 2 Th BN E 7 A TRERGF BV 2 7]

Yt B 32 o

BIGA BB RMF 14 RATHRE SEER-Z
—NFZAZ+—BANEZERERERANEERMED
5115 41,146,000 78 7T (F1Bk B W2 1E B 17,0008 7T) o
1% 49,333,000 7 7T (F0Fk B #ERE 1B 93,0008 7T) °

Obtaining an understanding of how the ECL of trade receivables
and contract assets were assessed by the management;

Testing the accounting of ECL adjustment made by the group as at
1 April 2018 on initial adoption of HKFRS 9;

Challenging management’s basis and judgement in determining
credit loss allowance on trade receivables as at 31 March 2019,
the reasonableness of management’s grouping of the remaining
trade debtors into different categories in the provision matrix, and
the basis of estimated loss rates applied in each category in the
provision matrix;

Testing the accuracy of the aged analysis and past due status of
trade receivables, on a sample basis, to the invoices; and

Testing the reasonableness of internal credit rating given to each
type of debtors by checking trade receivables ageing analysis as
at 31 March 2019, payment history and past due status of trade
receivables comparing individual items in the relevant invoice, bank
receipts and other information, on a sample basis.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirement of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2018/19
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Yu Kin Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

19 June 2019
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FRBERHMEZERGER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ=%

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other gain and losses, net
Impairment losses, net of reversal

Administrative expenses
Listing expenses

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit (loss) for the year

Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year attributable to owners
of the Company

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic and diluted (HK cents)

—NEZRA=+—HILLFE

Weas
HERA

EM

HAKA
HAtWozs & B 188
MERE - HIRED

TR
EmRX

B A A
Fr{S B

F R (E1R)

KRABHEE AEIEFREN
(&) kazmia (M) @58

AN (FR)
EARR#E GBI

NOTES 2019 2018
BiaE —E-hEF —T—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

6 210,596 193,973
(144,520) (138,019)

66,076 55,954

7 1,230 374
7 (133) 298
30 (148) -
(43,551) (40,067)

- (15,847)

9 23,474 712
10 (4,219) (2,858)
19,255 (2,146)

19,255 (2,146)

12 4.81 (0.62)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR ER

At31 March 2019 R=ZT—AF=A=+—H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deposits
Retention held by customers for contract works
Contract assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Retention held by customers for contract works
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Amounts due from customers for contract works

Contract assets

Tax recoverable

Pledged bank deposits

Time deposits with original maturity over
three months

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables and accrued charges
Amounts due to customers for contract works
Contract liabilities
Tax payable

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Share premium and reserves

Total equity

NOTES
M

ERBEE

ME - BEREE 13
we 15
BERANIREFTNRES 15
BWEE 17
TRENVEE

&

& 5 EWGE 14
BERANIREFINRES 15
Hip k0B - e REMNTE 15
EWAEHTREFSIA 16
BHEE 17
BEE

BHIFRITER 19
REEABB=EAN

TEEITF R 19
BITHBRIRE 19
TENAE

B 5 ERNFA 20
HipE B REER 21
ENAHTIREFIA 16
AHEE 18
PSR TE
TENVEESFE
BREEERRBARE
EnRBaE

ELERBEEE 22
BEFE
B K

[N 23
B A i 18 M
Bl

The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 143 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 June 2019 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Luk Kam Ming

REERALE

Director

EE
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2019 2018

S s
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH THT
2,924 3,312
1,875 1,335

- 9,361

6,785 -
11,584 14,008
463 508
41,146 44,853
- 7,428

5,453 7,365

- 27,225
42,548 -
- 73
10,782 5,000
40,050 20,007
36,989 40,225
177,431 162,684
13,289 10,027
12,621 11,692
- 21,022
17,145 -
1,617 -
44,672 42,641
132,759 110,043
144,343 124,051
208 248
144,135 123,803
4,000 4,000
140,135 119,803
144,135 123,803

BEEeR T -AFAATARBERRETRRRETS
E143ENGANBHRE TR TIEFRREE

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip

BRI £
Director
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Consohdated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HBE—F—AGF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2PN 3
Share Share Other  Share option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve profits  Total equity

k& Rt EE Rftfe  BRERR ESyp:vl R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TAL TAL

(Note)
(HzE)

At 1 April 2017 RZZ—+FNA—H 14,339 - - - 85,058 99,397
Loss and total comprehensive FREEREE

expense for the year %% - - - - (2,146) (2,146)
Dividend (Note 11) RE(H211) - - - - (25,000) (25,000)
Arising from Reorganisation (Note) EREL (M) (14,339) - 14,339 - - -
Ordinary shares issued BETEBR 4,000 47,552 - - - 51,552
At 31 March 2018 RZE-\F=ZA=+—-H 4,000 47,552 14,339 - 57,912 123,803
Impact on initial application of RRERBEINEREER

HKFRS 9 (Note 3) FORNMTE(W523) - - - - (89) (89)
At 1 April 2019 (restated) R-B-NEMA—H (85 4,000 47,552 14,339 - 57,803 123,714
Profit and total comprehensive income EW@%‘J&%EW fart ]

for the year - - - - 19,255 19,255
Recognition of equity-settled HREEE RN ARENR

share-based payments - - - 1,166 - 1,166
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=t—H 4,000 47,552 14,339 1,166 77,078 144,135
Note:  Other reserve represents the difference between the nominal values of the ordinary Wiat : BfE#EEE —F—NF=A=1+—HILFEALFE#T

shares issued by the Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired M}E/ZQLZ H1EE ﬁﬂ}ﬁlﬂfﬁﬁé 4 (T E Bt 2) IR (7 BT iE bt
through an exchange of shares pursuant to the Reorganisation (as defined in note REJRAZ EEE -

2) during the year ended 31 March 2018.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERENER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE=Z—

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Bank interest income
Impairment losses, net of reversal
Equity-settled share-based payment

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Changes in amounts due from/to contract works, net

Decrease in inventories

Increase in retention receivables

Decrease (increase) in trade receivables

Decrease (increase) in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Increase in contract assets

Increase in trade payables

Increase in other payables and accrued charges

Decrease in contract liabilities

Cash generated (used in) from operations
Income tax paid

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Increase in deposits paid for purchase of property,

plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment
Withdrawn of time deposits with original maturity

date over three months

Placement of time deposits with original maturity

date over three months
Placement of pledged bank deposit

Net cash outflow arising from disposal of a subsidiary

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue cost paid
Dividends paid

NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING

OF THE YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR,

represented by bank balances and cash
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NOTE 2019 2018
Wizt —E-RE —T-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FET
23,474 712
1,195 1,007
@ (7)

(854) (197)
148 -
1,166 -
25,125 1515
- 6,783

45 27

- (5,442)
3,590 (13,375)
2,366 @211)
(5,439) -
3,262 1,234
1,029 1,050
(3,877) -
26,101 (12,419)
(2,569) (6,063)
23,532 (18,482)
854 197
(821) (1,933)
(994) -
18 7
4,761 6,054
(24,804) (26,061)
(5,782) (5,000)
28 - )
(26,768) (26,739)
- 60,000

- 8,173

- (25,000)

- 26,827
(3,236) (18,394)
40,225 58,619
36,989 40,225




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 5 May 2017 under
the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, a consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The registered office of the
Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at B12,
G/F, Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares were listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
16 October 2017 (the “Listing”). The controlling shareholders of
the Company are detailed in note 2. The principal activity of the
Company is investment holding and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the provision of E&M engineering solutions and
services. The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and its principal subsidiaries.

GROUP REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF
PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Pursuant to the group reorganisation stated in the Company’s
prospectus dated 29 September 2017 (the “Prospectus”) in
preparation for the Listing (the “Reorganisation”), the Company
became the holding company of the subsidiaries now comprising
the Group on 6 September 2017, the details of which are as set
out in the Prospectus.

As the Group comprising the Company and its subsidiaries
resulting from the Reorganisation continued to be controlled by
Mr. Luk Kam Ming (“Mr. KM Luk”), Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (“Mr. KL
Luk”), Mr. Luk Yin Cheung (“Mr. YC Luk”), Ms. Leung Kwok Yee
(“Madam Leung”) and KML Holdings Limited (‘KML Holdings”)
(the “Controlling Shareholders”) and is regarded as a continuing
entity, accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the basis as if the Company had always been
the holding company of the Group throughout the year ended
31 March 2018 under the principles of merger accounting in
accordance with the Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting,
Under Common Control Combinations” issued by the HKICPA.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for year ended
31 March 2018 had been prepared to present the results and
cash flows of the companies comprising the Group as if the group
structure upon the completion of the Reorganisation had been in
existence throughout the year ended 31 March 2018 or since their
respective dates of incorporation, where there is a shorter period.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the GEM of Stock
Exchange with effect from 16 October 2017.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—NF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs and an interpretation issued by the HKICPA for the first
time in the current year:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HK(FRIC)-Int 22

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with Customers and
the related Amendments

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments’
with HKFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”

As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs and an interpretation in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

3.1

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 “Revenue”,
HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the related
interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised
at the date of initial application, 1 April 2018. Any difference
at the date of initial application is recognised in the opening
accumulated profits (or other components of equity, as
appropriate) and comparative information has not been
restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply
the Standard retrospectively only to contracts that are
not completed at 1 April 2018 and has used the practical
expedient for all contract modifications that occurred before
the date of initial application, the aggregate effect of all of the
modifications was reflected at the date of initial application.
Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 18 “Revenue” and HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts”
and the related interpretations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-EE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

3.1

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
(continued)

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources:

o Provision of E&M engineering solutions and services

o Provision of E&M engineering maintenance services

o Provision of E&M engineering design and fabrication
services; and

° Sales of parts and components

Information about the Group’s performance obligations and
the accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS
15 are disclosed in notes 6 and 4 respectively.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 April 2018. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

Non-current assets FRBEE

Retention held by customers for BPHaNIERE
contract works HRE

Contract assets ANEE

Current assets REEE

Retention held by customers RPRAENTIERE
for contract works BREE

Amounts due from customers for e AN TREFZIE
contract works

Contract assets AHEE

Current liabilities REaE

Amounts due to customers for ENEHNIREPFE
contract works

Contract liabilities AHBEE

* The amounts in this column are before the adjustments from the

application of HKFRS 9.

3. FEAFTREEITEEBMBHREER (EBHL
BREER ) (F)

RAFEBRFERIT REBTEBUBREE
A (&)

3.1 BEBRUBEREENE15RIRATFEHHK
# (&)
REBUWAT T ERRHERYL R

. TR E TRRARR Ty SR S IRT%

. RHEETIRERERS

. TRt E TIRRRAT M EECRTS © )

. HETIRAME

BB BHRELEREASFAMBHRHASE
BERARARETEENER D BRI E6 &
4H5FE o

BAEREBUBREERE1SHTELS
HHHE
THARER -_Z— \FOA - BNERAUK
RRKRPHERNSREMELOFHE - A EF
ARRZEEBTENMIIAR -

Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
reported at HKFRS 15 at
Notes 31 March 2018  Reclassification 1 April 2018*
RZZB-N§
b1} mA—H
RZB-NF BERBHRYE
=ZA=t+-H BEERE155H
i3 ERMERE ENNE STERREE"
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET TET
(b) 9,361 (9,361) =
(b) S 9,361 9,361
(b) 7,428 (7,428) -
(@ 27,225 (27,225) -
(@) &(b) - 34,653 34,653
(@ 21,022 (21,022 -
(@ - 21,022 21,022
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—AF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

3.1

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
(continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15 (continued)

Notes:

(@)

®)

In relation to engineering service contracts previously accounted
under HKAS 11, the Group continues to apply input method in
estimating the performance obligations satisfied up to date of
initial application of HKFRS 15. Amounts due from customers for
contract works of HK$27,225,000 were reclassified to contract
assets, whilst amounts due to customers for contract work of
HK$21,022,000 were reclassified to contract liabilities.

As the date of initial application, retention receivables of
HK$16,789,000 arising from engineering services contracts
are conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the
customers over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts,
and such balance was reclassified from retention receivables to
contract assets.

The directors of the Company assessed that the application
of HKFRS 15 have no material impact on the timing and
amounts of revenue recognised.

The following tables summarise the impacts of applying
HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2019 and its consolidated
statement of cash flows for the current year for each of the
line items affected. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial
position

Contract assets

Non-current assets FERBEE
Retention held by customers for contract works
GREE
REBEE

Current assets

Retention held by customers for contract works
Amounts due from customers for contract works
Contract assets

Current liabilities
Amounts due to customers for contract works
Contract liabilities

BREE
REAE
BHAE
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BRUBBREENE1SHIREFFEHK
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Mt

(@) BBAEREEESERE1FARA T
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BEENEREENEREERE 1555 H
HIEBITIEAEL - ERAEH THEEFHE
27,225,000 8 TEH S EEHIEE  MEMR
BRI FEEF B 21,022,000 8 TEFH 7 HE
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BEAUBRRERNTE

Amounts

without

application of

Asreported  Adjustments HKFRS 15
REREE

RS ER

MER AR F15HNEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT FTET
- 6,785 6,785

6,785 (6,785) =

- 13,027 13,027

- 29,521 29,521
42,548 (42,548) -
- 17,145 17,145

17,145 (17,145) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-EE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 3. ERHI RS EBMBEHREEL ([FHEBMKE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) wmEZER ) (8])
(CONTINUED)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily RAFEEREIERNIT RSIETEBUBRESE
effective for the current year (continued) Al (&)
3.1 HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” 31 FEUBHREEAFEISHEIREEFESHNK

(continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15 (continued)

Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows

OPERATING ACTIVITIES KRS

Increase in retention held by customers BERAEHNTIEFENRESEM
for contract works

Increase in contract assets AHRVEEL I

Changes in amounts due to/from et WA TREF A
customers for contract works

Decrease in contract liabilities aHBERD

Except as described above, the application of HKFRS 15
has had no material impact on the amounts reported set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

3.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 3.2
In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” and the related consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for 1) the classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities, 2) expected credit
losses (“ECL”) for financial assets and other items (for
example, contract assets) and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 April 2018 (date
of initial application) and has not applied the requirements
to instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1
April 2018. The difference between carrying amounts as at
31 March 2018 and the carrying amounts as at 1 April 2018
are recognised in the opening accumulated profits without
restating comparative information.

# (&)

BREREBUBHREEREISHTELR
EHHE ()

HEARERERNTE

Amounts

without

application of

As reported  Adjustments HKFRS 15

RERBBHE

|EER

MEHK AR FEISRNEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETL FET
= (3,030) (3,030)
(5,439) 5,439 =
= (6,286) (6,286)
(3,877) 3,877 -
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RERTE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—T—NF=A=+—HILFE

3.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

3.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)
Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9
are disclosed in note 4.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9

The table below illustrates the classification and
measurement (including impairment) of financial assets and
other items subject to ECL under HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at
the date of initial application, 1 April 2018.

3.

FE RIS AT R ARMERT BB MR E LR ([ BB
BREER ) (F)

AN S B 4 RV ET R ARMER] BB AR5
Al (47)

32 BRPBEREEAFEIRISHIE I(E)
HRLEBREMDIREER ST ERE 3% &
MIA: BARERY AETHEE
KT R A RELLER -

FERER B ELERE RPN I
SROPTRE 4 5% -

BREREBYBHMEEREISTELHE
HIBEE

TERAARBREABH -2 N\FMA—
BEREEEVHRELAZ RN BB GTE
AEoNeREERSREBERBEHEERS
BETEMER NS BN E (BFERE)

Contract Trade Accumulated
Note assets receivables profits
g5
BiE EHEE PEWRE B4yl
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FTExT FTiEr
Closing balance at 31 March 2018 RZE-NF=A=+—HH
— HKAS 39 — BB ENE 395 = 44,853 (67,912)
Effect arising from initial application BREREAI GRS %R
of HKFRS 15 BISMELNTE 44,014 - -
Effect arising from initial application BARRAEAMERE LR
of HKFRS 9: FBOREENTE
Remeasurement B E
Impairment under ECL model EHEEFBEXTHRE (@) (27) (62) 89
Opening balance at 1 April 2018 RZZ—\FHA—AK BNk 43,987 44,791 (57,823)
Note: Biat -
(a) Impairment under ECL model (a) TERI = BEFEE 018 T/ alE

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach which
uses a lifetime ECL, to measure ECL for all contract assets
and trade receivables. Contract assets and trade receivables
have been assessed individually with significant balances
and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings based on its historical default rates which are
adjusted for forward-looking estimates. The contract assets
relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the
same types of contracts. The Group has therefore estimated
the expected loss rates for the trade receivables and the
contract assets on the same basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

3.2

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9 (continued)

(a)  Impairment under ECL model (continued)

Loss allowances for other financial assets at
amortised cost including other receivables, pledged
bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity
over three months and bank balance are measured on
12-month ECL basis as there had been no significant

increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

As at 1 April 2018, the additional credit loss allowance
of HK$89,000 has been recognised against
accumulated profits. The additional loss allowance is

charged against the respective asset.

All'loss allowances for financial assets including trade
receivables and contract assets as at 31 March 2018
reconcile to the opening loss allowance as at 1 April

P& FA S AT R ARMERT BB M R EE R ([ BB
BREER ) (F)

AN B VT RS BB M REE
Al (47)

32 BARPBEREEAFEIRISHIEI(E)

BREREBYBHREEREIHITELTE
HIBEE ()

@ FEHERERESETa5E (8)

HEERAENRCeREE (B
HAidEWREOR - D EMRTER - RE
HRBB=EANERFERRRITE
#) BB ERE 12 A ATEREEER
RELETHE - REASEBEERR
B VA TERRIA SR AL AR 1 o

RZZE-N\FHA—B - ERREF
BREMEEFEIRRE89,0008 T -
HitERBEIT SR EENR -

EREE(REESRURERENE
E)RZE-—NF=ZRA=+—HHOME
ERBEFEAR T —/\FNA—BHH

2018 is as follows: VEEREHERAT
Contract Trade
assets receivables
AHEE B 5 EWFRIE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
At 31 March 2018-HKAS 39 RZE—-N\F=A=+—H
—BBGTERAIE 395 - -
Effect arising from initial application BXEAEBMIEHRE AR
of HKFRS 9: FORELENTE
Amounts remeasured through BRI ZHRNEF T ENSE
opening accumulated profits (27) (62)
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—NFMA—H (27) 62
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—AF=A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 3.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

3.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of
financial position arising from the application of all
new standards, amendments and interpretation
As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting policies
above, the opening consolidated statement of financial
position had to be restated. The following table shows the
adjustments recognised for each of the line items affected.
Line items that were not affected by the changes have not
been included.

Non-current assets FREBEE

Retention held by customers for contract works B RA X TIRIFANRE S

Contract assets BREE

Current assets REEE

Trade receivables B HrbzE

Retentions held by customers for contract BEEHREHNIEREE
works WRE 2

Amounts due from customers for WA HTIREFHKIE
contract works

Contract assets BREE

Current liabilities RBAE

Amounts due to customers for contract works B A4 TIEE P ZIE

Contract liabilities EHEE

Note:  For the purposes of reporting cash flows from operating activities
under indirect method for the year ended 31 March 2019,
movements in working capital have been computed based on
opening consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 April
2018 as disclosed above.
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3.3 EAMEHMIEN  BAIRRBRELNHE
NFEEHBRRRNTE

MR L ARESHRENED - MUEFE
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FENTHAIEBEANAE  ERPAE
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31 March 1 April
2018 2018
(Audited)  HKFRS 15 HKFRS9  (Restated)
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=A BREMY  BEME —2-N\F
=+—H  HBE&EEA  HEEH  mA-A
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TET TET TET TET
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44,853 S (62) 44,791
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27,225 (27,225) - -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and an interpretation that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases'
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business*

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative

Compensation’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material®

and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement!
Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures'
Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle!

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

NN =

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
other new and amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors
and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for
lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all
leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low
value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of
lease modifications, among others. For the classification of cash
flows, the Group currently presents operating lease payments
as operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal
and an interest portion which will be presented as financing cash
flows by the Group and upfront prepaid lease payments will be
presented as investing or operating cash flows in accordance with
the nature, as appropriate.

Other than certain requirement which are also applicable to lessor,
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to
classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of HK$5,851,000 as disclosed in note 24. A
preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements meet
the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in
respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-
term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$90,000 as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease
payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments
relating to the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the
carrying amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised
cost. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would be
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above. The
Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(FRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement
Contains a Lease”. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed
whether the contracts are, or contain a lease which already existed
prior to the date of initial application. Furthermore, the Group has
elected the modified retrospective approach for the application
of HKFRS 16 as lessee and has recognised the cumulative effect
of initial application to opening retained profits without restating
comparative information.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material
by including additional guidance and explanations in making
materiality judgements. The amendments also align the definition
across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 April 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group but may affect
the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements includes the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporates the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

4.

TESHERR (@

REEE

A MBHRRGA QR RAR R EEME QR ATE
HERZMBERRESAR - ARFRATERE
S -

. has power over the investee; o ATEWIRE S 1TERES
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its . RAREWIRE T 2 ¥ MESSKERES

involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash FBERAREEKEARZEANZSNERRNE
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are E-8F #xm WA AXKRESREGNESE

eliminated in full on consolidation.

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in which
the common control combination occurs as if they had been
combined from the date when the combining entities or businesses
first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the controlling
party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill
or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost
at the time of common control combination, to the extent of the
continuation of the controlling party’s interest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control (continued)

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income includes the results of each of the
combining entities or businesses from the earliest date presented
or since the date when the combining entities or businesses first
came under the common control, where this is a shorter period.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of
HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 3)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 April 2018)
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable.

Revenue from design, supply, installation of systems and
implementation of E&M engineering service contracts is based
on the stage of completion at the end of each reporting period.
The percentage of completion is determined using methods
that measure reliably the work performed with reference to the
proportion that contract cost incurred for work performed to date
relative to the estimated total contract costs.

Revenue from provision of maintenance services is recognised
when services are rendered.

Revenue from the sale of goods and fabrication and sales of made-
to-order products for customers is recognised when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed.

E&M Engineering solutions and services contracts (prior to 1
April 2018)

Where the outcome of an E&M engineering solutions and services
contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of each reporting period, measured based on the
proportion that revenue recognised with reference to the proportion
that contract cost incurred for work performed to date relative to
the budget contract costs. Variations in contract work, claims and
incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can
be measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—T—NF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

E&M Engineering solutions and services contracts (prior to 1
April 2018) (continued)

Where the outcome of an E&M engineering solutions and
services contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue
is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is
probable to be recovered. Contract costs are recognised as
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown
as amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts billed
for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are included
in the consolidated statements of financial position under trade
receivables.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets. Government grants that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on tangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amount of tangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—AF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment loss on tangible assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 since 1 April 2018. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-EE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 3)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o The financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o The contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 3)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 including
trade receivables, other receivables, contract assets, pledged
bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three
months and bank balances. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZ—=

4.

—NE=ZA=+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 3) (continued)

Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and/or collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings based on its historical
default rates which are adjusted for forward-looking estimate.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(@) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o An actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o Significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR Rk

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-EE

4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 3) (continued)

(@) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o Existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

. An actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° An actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(b) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—AF=A=+—HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 3) (continued)

()

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(i) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(ii) A breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(iii) The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(iv) It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(v) The disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-EE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 3) (continued)

(€)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may
not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on
the shared characteristics basis:

o Nature of financial instruments;

. Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables and contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—AF=A=+—HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

The Group’s financial assets are loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, retention
receivables, time deposits with original maturity over three months,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment (see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets
below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
except for short-term receivables where the recognition of interest
would be insignificant.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the loans
and receivables, the estimated future cash flows of the loans and
receivables have been affected.

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

o Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

o Breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of trade receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments past credit period,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on trade receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-EE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018 (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities including trade payables and other
payables and accrued charges are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—AF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the
“ORSO0 Scheme”) and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) as defined contribution plan are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period that related services is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that
service. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact
of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of
rental expense on a straight-line basis.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR Rk

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation
Taxation represents the sum of the income tax expense currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Research expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the year in which it is incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—AF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on the settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, management is required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimates is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

E&M engineering solutions and services

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue,
contract costs, variation orders and contract claims prepared for
each E&M engineering solutions and services contracts as the
contract progresses. Budgeted engineering service costs are
prepared by the management on the basis of estimation of direct
labour costs to incur and quotations from time to time provided
by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved and the
experience of the management. In order to keep the budget
accurate and up-to-date, the management conducts periodic
reviews of the budgets of contracts by comparing the budgeted
amounts to the actual amounts incurred. Such significant estimate
may have impact on the profit recognised in each period with
adjustments made on a prospective basis.

Recognised amounts of E&M engineering solutions and services
contracts revenue and related receivables reflect management’s
best estimate of each contract’s outcome and stage of completion,
which are determined on the basis of a number of estimates.
This includes the assessment of the profitability of on-going E&M
engineering solutions and services contracts.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-EE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

E&M engineering solutions and services (continued)

For more complex contracts in particular, costs to complete and
the contracts profitability are subject to significant estimation
uncertainty. The actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue
may be higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting
period, which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date with
adjustments made on a prospective basis.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and contract assets
The Group calculates ECL for the trade receivables and contract
assets. The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings
of individual debtors with significant balance or as groupings of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The individual
assessment and provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered. In addition, trade receivables and contract assets
with significant balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL, the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets are disclosed in notes 30, 14 and 17, respectively.

REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the both years is as follows:

fhat TREE R FEHNEERR (F)

WEIRBRDZRRHE (&)
FRIEBEMNEOME » TRKARE AT RE
NEBRRERMEFTARERE - BRAF AR
ERERTRERRRERNREMAEL 2 A5 1t
MSHFERKERERLS THR RN BMAER
ZWoas BOs A IRTEEAEEH IR o

ESRBRERSNEERREEBERE

AEBERBBEERFEEZRUTERANEE
HHEEEE - BEXIREAENEHRNESIE
BASAFBLBEBRERXN T RERSAD AR
EEFRGTHE - @RI B HERIAREE B
ERHOEHER  WEEBHAZERAL TN
MEMNAEAEMELER -REREAHNEE

B o lboh - BEEREREEERENE S RUK
BERAaHNEEREREEBEEEBETIME -

EHEEERBESIGIEHNTE - BHEEN
FEEFBEAEEBEZRNFERENEENER
DRI ERHIFES0 ~ 14 & 17 ©

Wk o IHER

REERMEFENREIITIT

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
E&M engineering solutions and services (Note a)  #%E T2k 5 = KRS (A7t a) 173,011 164,789
E&M engineering maintenance services (Note b)  #%E T IR &S RS (K152 b) 28,399 20,100

E&M engineering design and fabrication HE TR R
services (Note c) KBRS (A75Fc) 8,282 7,031
Sales of parts and components (Note d) HET MR (Mt d) 904 2,053
210,596 193,973
2019
—E-hEF
HK$’000
FHER

Timing of revenue recognition U 25 He SR B S

A point in time R AR R 9,186
Over time e 201,410
210,596
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—AF=A=+—HILFE

6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

@

®)

()

()

Amount represents revenue generated from design, supply, installation of
systems and implementation of E&M engineering solutions and services,
including revenue generated from design and fabrication services for the
fabrication of made-to-order products for the customers, where applicable
("E&M engineering solutions and services”).

Under the terms of contracts, the Group’s performance creates and/
or enhances the assets which the customers control during the course
of work by the Group. Revenue from provision of contracting services is
therefore recognised based on the stage of completion of contract over
time using input method. The Group normally receives progress payment
from customers with reference to the contract terms. The Group requires
certain customers to provide upfront deposits range from 10% to 20%
of total contract sum, when the Group receives a deposit before the
project commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the full amount of deposit is deducted proportionately from
progress payment.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same contract, is
recognised over the period in which the E&M engineering solutions and
services are performed representing the Group’s right to consideration for
the services performed and not billed because the rights are conditioned
on the Group’s future performance accepted by the customers. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional. The Group typically transfers its contract assets to
trade receivables when progress certificate/invoice is issued.

Retentions receivable, prior to expiration of maintenance period, are
classified as contract assets, which usually ranges from one to three
years from the date of the practical completion of the project. The relevant
amount of contract assets is reclassified to trade receivables when the
maintenance period expires, and/or the maintenance/payment certificate is
issued, and/or the final account is issued.

The Group also generates revenue from provision of maintenance services
to the customers’ facilities. The revenue is recognised over the contract
period.

Amount represents revenue generated from design and fabrication
services for the fabrication of made-to-order products for the customers,
such as control room consoles, public access kiosks and terminals, relay
racks, test rigs and also control room technical furniture and industrial
enclosures and instrument cabinets without supply, installation of systems
and implementation of E&M engineering solutions and services (“E&M
engineering design and fabrication services”).

This revenue is recognised at a point in time when the goods have been
delivered to specific locations and customers obtain control of the goods.

The Group also generates revenue from sales of parts or components.
This revenue is recognised at a point in time when the goods have been
delivered to specific location and customers obtain control of the materials.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-EE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 6. Wz R 2 EhE R (&)
(CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued) Mz - ()
© The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (e R-FE-—NF=A=+—H " EFIEREAIE A (K

(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2019 and the expected /E 4’] SLES R IER)) B3 518 R fg 5?'5% FUY 7 0 T 40
timing of recognised revenue are as follows:

E&M E&M
engineering engineering
solutions and  maintenance
services services Others
WE TR BETRE
F R RER Hity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FERT FExT
Within one year —FR 193,675 28,860 2,208
More than one year but not more
than two years —F A HETRBRME 33,931 25,868 -
More than two years but less than
five years MEA BT BRRF 23,443 17,235 e
251,049 71,963 2,208
Segment information DEER
The Group’s operation is solely derived from E&M engineering EMEFE  AEBELEEREEETIZMRS
solutions and services, E&M engineering maintenance services with RERS - ETRRRERS - FER()ERBEW
focus on (i) automatic fare collection system at railway stations; HB B E R4 (i) %?ﬁﬁ)}mf&‘? s (i) A&
(i) electronic payment and ticketing system; (i) road and tunnel DEGEEWMMB RS (VWVRBEFINERES &
toll collection system: (iv) traffic control and surveillance system; (v )@L}J‘“S)‘L:ﬂ&? R4 WE TR RER
and (v) railway signaling communication and control system, E&M H&’n’*&&% ¢)§2*WF RERD R RFRBRFTEM
engineering design and fabrication services and sales of parts and I%’%,ﬁ‘éfé RE(MARARITES) BHAE
components during both years. For the purposes of resources %%ﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂtﬂ(ﬁ%ﬁ\mﬁél?ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂ/\
allocation and performance assessment, the chief operation pfﬁﬁz%iﬁﬁ&) At AEEES— —REDE
decision maker (i.e. the executive directors of the Company) RRERBEERMIREN - I?ﬁi\;&ﬁlﬁxﬁ PaN=z0
reviews the overall results and financial position of the Group as a BRI -

whole which is prepared based on the same accounting policies
as set out in note 4. Accordingly, the Group has only one single
operating segment and no separate analysis of this single segment
is presented other than entity-wide disclosure.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—AF=A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 6. Wk ER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Geographical information hEER
The Group’s revenue from external customers based on place of REBRBINTEL (AERNEPEEMIEM) IS
operation of customers and non-current assets by jurisdictions el FEE (ERNEEMAEMLE) B9 MIEREE
based on the location of the assets are detailed below: EEn T
Revenue Non-current assets
Wz FREBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018

—F-nE ~F\F ZF-hE ~F)\F
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000
FHRT  TET TR TR

Hong Kong &% 198,953 191,606 2,924 3,312
Taiwan =y 3,789 1,110 - -
Singapore AN 1,784 104 - -
Canada mEx 2,933 710 - =
Others EAftb 3,137 443 - -
210,596 193,973 2,924 3,312
Note:  Non-current assets comprise of property, plant and equipment. Wi - FETBEECEYE  BERRE -
Information about major customers EBRETEEFNER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing RIEBFERB L ASEBBHERE10% U LB
over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as follows: WesaT -
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Customer A ZEA 139,073 111,643
Customer B ZFB N/A (rote) 19,670
R R ()
Note: The corresponding revenue did not constitute over 10% of the total s - FEREH s AN R AR W s AR 10% -

revenue of the Group.

Other than disclosed above, there was no revenue from customers BEXFEBREEN  REEZT—NFRZZT—N
individually contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group FZA=Z+—HIFE BERBE—RFPHkzE
during years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. HAREBEBRER10% A L -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZE_—ZT—NFE=A=1+—HIFE

OTHER INCOME, AND GAIN AND LOSSES, NET Ha AR W= AR B8R
Other income Hplr A
2019 2018
—E-hE - N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Bank interest income ERITF B UA 854 197
Government subsidies (Note) BT T B (B aE) 263 106
Sundry income ESIET N 113 71
1,230 374
Other gain and losses, net HiEREEFE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiET
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  BEK
plant and equipment SRS 4 7
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain HNEE (E518) W F 58 (137) 291
(133) 208

Note:  Amount represents subsidies received form the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administration Region (the “HKSAR”) for the Group’s participation
in Youth Employment and Training Programme, which is initiated by the

Labour Department of HKSAR.

Wt - ZAEIE LA BB BB ST E ([ BB RITE
B ) # T E A B FHHERIE et B RE BT FITT

B =BT EE) °
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—AF=A=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EERESTMH
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a)

Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk were appointed as executive

directors of the Company on 5 May 2017, Mr. KM Luk and

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip (“Mr. CL Chan”) were appointed

as executive directors of the Company on 9 June 2017. Mr.

Lau On Kwok (“Mr. Lau”), Mr. Law Wing Chi, Stephen (“Mr.

Law”) and Dr. Tse Chi Kong (“Dr. Tse”) were appointed

as independent non-executive directors of the Company

on 20 September 2017. The emoluments paid or payable

to the directors of the Company (including emoluments for

services as employee/directors of the group entities prior

to becoming the directors of the Company) by the entities

comprising the Group during the years ended 31 March

EEREFRITHASHM
REIZE—FRARA BEFEREEREES
CRAERZERARRES N _T—+F
NANB - BEEREERKREREE (R
BBAEDEZERARANTEE -1
“E—tFNAAZTHE FREELE(EL
) BxkERE(TELE)D REHERIE
T(THELDEZERARTBILIENT
EX-RNBE_ZT-NAFR-_ZT-N\F=A
=t RLFEARAEE 2 BRCIIRE
MNARFEENFIM(BRRKBEARARES
ZAEREEERES " EE2HIWT

2019 and 2018 as:
Mr. Mr. Mr. Mr. Mr. Mr. Dr.
KM Luk KL Luk YCLuk  CLChan Lau Law Tse Total
EERAE BFERE HBE¥AE REBRE A%k Bix HEL it
HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000
Thn Fhr T T T TEr  Thn Tt
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-E-NE=B=t-ALEE
Fees He - 60 60 60 144 144 144 612
Other emoluments AtEH
Salaries and allowances EEREH 1,068 580 557 1,170 - - - 3375
Bonus (Notg) L) - 30 4 9% - - - 167
Retirement benefit scheme contributions SR IR B3 - 18 18 93 - - - 129
Shere-based peyment SARIR AR - - - 521 - - - 521
Total emoluments £hjeg 1,068 688 676 1,940 144 144 144 4,804
Year ended 31 March 2018 HE-Z-)\E=A=t-RLEE
Fees we - 60 60 60 06 06 06 378
Other emoluments EthEM
Salaries and alowances EoREH 1,068 550 50 1,140 5 5 S 3278
Bonus (Note) T (M) - 61 68 17 = = 5 248
Retiement benefit scheme contributions B (i HIEr 843 - 18 18 o1 = = S 127
Total emoluments £hjeg 1,068 689 666 1408 66 66 66 4,029

Note: Hiit : RBEFEATIZZXEBAF AN BBEREFLRAK

LB X BEEE

Performance bonus is determined by reference to the duties and
responsibilities of relevant individual within the Group and the
Group’s performance.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-EE

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(@)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

The emoluments of executive directors were for their
services in connection with management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive directors
were for their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors of
the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors of the Company have waived any remuneration
during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals included two directors of the
Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures
in (a) above for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.
The emoluments of the remaining three individuals for the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, respectively were as
follows:

8. EBRESHME)

(a) EBRIETHASHFH(E)

HITESFN IR NEEEARRRAEHE
=R RBMEL -

BYIFRTESHFM IR REIERARAE
EREZRBMEL -

REBEE-_T-NER-FT-N\F=A=+—
BIEFE  AEBYERAARRERTINH
B 1F 2R R 51 15 2 A0 A SR DDA AR 52 (B By 1) 22
BISERBBEE REE_T-hFR=
E-N\EF=ZA=+—BILFE BELARF
ERWEEAHH

(b) {EEFM
TEAsERHFALTEERBE_T-AFL -
Z-N\EF=ZA=+—BHIEFEMEFHALX
@QEBEFNARTIMEBEE - RBEE_ZE
—NEFERZZ-NF=ZA=+—HIEFE"
HHp =R ATNHFHORINT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FiET

Salaries and other benefits e RHEMBEF 2,443 2,740
Bonus (Note) TE4L (B1aE) 80 123
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFET B 54 54
2,577 2,917

Note: Performance bonus is determined by reference to the duties and
responsibilities of relevant individual within the Group and the
Group’s performance.

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

Het - KBETEALDREFE BN G HEABARE(F
WURT LR B RLET

BERFIELATHE A

2019 2018

—E-NF —T-N\&F

No. of No. of

individuals individuals

AE AEK

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z% 1,000,000/87C 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 & 7TZ 1,500,000 7T = 1

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

RBE_Z—NEFER_ZT—NFZA=Z+—
HIEFE AEERTEREERSHALX
NEHW - EARSIHEMAEMARER R
R HEEN S (E A BB 1 -

SHNREEERAT « ZF-/\/-NEFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—NF=A=+—HILFE

9.

10.

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION BRI R
2019 2018
—E-hF —F-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Profit before taxation has been arrived BREATE A AR (FEA)
at after charging (crediting): AT &IEZER
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B4 B A 1,200 1,100
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - MERRETE 1,195 1,007
Directors’ remuneration (Note 8) EEME (K78 4,283 4,029
Other staff costs HMh 8 TR
Salaries and other benefits e REMER 68,414 68,859
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIREFIEI B 2,704 2,763
Share-based payments LARR 7 ARERR AT R 1,166 =
Total staff costs B IR A4a%8 76,567 75,651
Contract costs recognised as expense HRAAZHE LKA
- E&M engineering solutions and services —METRERFRLRS 117,646 117,264
Lease payments under operating leases in CEHEE NEE THIM
respect of: HER :
— office premises —WAEYE 5,777 5,459
- motor vehicles —RE - 26
Net foreign exchange loss (gain) P 3 18 (s ) 558 137 (291)
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - HE
plant and equipment R 4) (7)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE Frisfipxx
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT—)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
Current tax: BNEARSIE -
Hong Kong BB 4,259 2,701
Deferred tax (Note 22) REFIA (K1eE22) (40) 157
4,219 2,858

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”)
which introduced the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the
following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity would be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million would be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualified for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime would continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% for the first HK$2
million of profits and 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
above HK$2 million in 2019.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2018/19
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T—EEBRBUERTA) (F75) GPIER) ([HKRH
ER]SIANGSHMESH - ZEPHERR-F —N\
FZAZTNBRERRER > ANRATIERE
| RBEANSHMAS - AEREEERE2HSE
TT s IR 8.25% MITL R - KEB®2 AEET
B A 12 16.6% MO R BH » TR & ARSI A5
HMEREEBB 26 M B EEIZ16.5% M8 - %
A -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZE—ZE—NF=A=1+—HILFE

10.

11.

12,

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) pursuant to the rules and
regulations in those jurisdictions.

The tax charge for the both years can be reconciled to the profit
before taxation as follows:

Profit before taxation R A 52 )
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5%
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AAHB A A
for tax purpose MIE 2
Income tax at concessionary rate

10.

BBEAMSHE16.6% A H 2 H1A
BARHMART S

=474
e

REERE R AEH

One-off tax reduction (Note) — R R (K
Tax charge for the year AEEHIBEAEZ

Note: Amount represents the one-off reduction of profits tax for the both years
proposed by the Financial Secretary of HKSAR.

DIVIDEND

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company declared
and paid special dividend of HK$25,000,000 to the Controlling
Shareholders.

Other than disclosed above, no dividend was paid or declared by
any group entity for the year ended 31 March 2019 nor has any
dividend proposed since the end of the reporting period.

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings (loss): &R (E1E) :
Earnings (loss) for the purpose of calculating
basic earnings (loss) per share

— Profit (loss) for the year attributable to

the owners of the Company

Z B8N (E8)

Weighted average number of shares: A& iS5 88
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose

of calculating basic earnings (loss) per share

11.

12.

— RNREIGEE AR
FRiE (&R)

REstESRERZAR
(E18) 2 BB B

FriSBiB X ()

BREXHSHERRBRELHS ((XBELES )
BRI R RG] - AEERZE AR R BEEMRE
RS -

AR S A0 B0 18 B S FT SRR B AT a A BRIA TS

2019 2018
—g-nE P )F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
23,474 712
3,873 117
(141) (80)

692 2,881

(165) =
(40) (60)

4,219 2,858

Wit o ZAEIEE B PITE R R Al AR A M A FEZ —
R FIBE ©

BE
RBE-Z—N\F=ZA=1+—HILFEE X257
R MR BIRS B 25,000,000 78 7T TR AL R ©

BEXEEEN BEZZ-NAF=ZA=+—HIE
FE BECASEERRNARERES - KE®R
EHERE T ERR RS -

BRER (FE)

ARBEAANEIESRERRN (BE) DERAT
BEEE

REt ESRERER (BER)

2019 2018
S i S
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
19,255 (2,146)
'000 000

B F
400,000 345,753

SHNREEERAT « ZF-/\/-NFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

12. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the computation of diluted
earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s outstanding share options (2018: Nil) because the
exercise prices of these share options were higher than the average
market price for shares for the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the weighted average
number of ordinary shares for the purpose of calculating basic
loss per share had been determined on the assumption that the
Reorganisation, the Capitalisation Issue in relation to the Share
Offer as defined and described in notes 2 and 23 respectively had
been effective on 1 April 2017.

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Computer  Leasehold
equipment  improvement

BERE RENREE
HKS000  HK§'000

12,

13.

BRER (FE) ()

BE_ZT-AF=A=+—RALFE" %Hﬁﬁ&
BRI ARBRRITEAR Tfkfﬂ@%ﬂﬂ%é(:”
FE) J?IEEZ%BﬁﬁxTEE’Jﬁ@EFmEAEWHx@
M -

BHE-_Z-)/\FZA=+—HILFE  ANFES
Hx%%"léﬂ@ﬂ’] CRRIEFERTIRREE A
i B ENEAMEETT CEE R DRI RHT 2 R
B)ERZ—FMA—BHEXMETE -

NE - BERRE
Furniture Plantand Motor
and fixture ~ machinery vehicles Cruiser Total
BRR
BE4E  BEREES RE NERIE &5t

HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$'000

TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL FHL
Cost RA
Asat 1 April 2017 RZZ-+EmA-A 6,487 1,102 599 4115 2,263 364 14,930
Additions AE 461 549 239 684 S = 1,933
Disposals ik %9 - S S = = (%)
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-\E=A=1-H 6,850 1,651 838 4,799 2,263 364 16,765
Additions AE 83 307 19 42 S = 821
Disposals e (110) - - (2,256) 27) = (2,399)
As at 31 March 2019 R-E-NE=A=1-H 6,823 1958 857 2,955 2,236 364 15,193
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZitiE
Asat 1 April 2017 RZE-+ENA-A 5828 504 539 3,687 1823 73 12,544
Provided Eh 353 154 56 218 153 73 1,007
Eliminated on disposal R ER S 99 - - - - = 98)
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-\E=A=1-H 6,083 748 595 3,905 1976 146 13,453
Provided Eh 302 184 185 349 152 73 1,195
Eliminated on disposal REERBHH (%6) - = (2,256) (27) = (2.379)
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=R=1-8 6,289 882 780 1,098 2,101 219 12,269
NET CARRYING VALUES FEFE
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1-H 534 1076 7 957 135 145 2,924
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-N\§ZA=+-H 767 903 243 804 287 218 3,312

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at 20% per annum.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

14.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group grants credit terms of 30 to 60 days to its customers
from the date of invoices on progress billings of contract and
maintenance works and sales of goods. An aged analysis of the
trade receivables presented based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period.

0-30 days 0&30H

31-60 days 31E260H
61-90 days 61E90H
Over 90 days Bi@90 A

B REHEERE

Less: Accumulated loss allowance

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed
regularly. The Group has policy for provision of ECL, which is based
on an evaluation of the collectability and age analysis of accounts
on every individual trade debtor with significant balances and the
remaining balances are grouped based on past due characteristics
and on management’s judgement including creditworthiness, the
past collection history and forward-looking information.

As at 31 March 2019, included in the Group’s trade receivable
balances were customers with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$15,389,000 which were past due as at the reporting date.
Out of the past due balances, HK$6,484,000 has been past due
more than 90 days and was not considered as in default. The
Group rebutted the presumption of default under expected credit
losses model for trade receivables past due over 90 days based
on no significant change in credit quality after understood these
customers’ background as well as the good payment records
of and continuous business relationship with those customers.
Further, such long outstanding balances were primarily due to
overdue payment was a common practice in E&M engineering
solutions and services and prolonged by the internal procedures
of the relevant customers. These customers were assessed
individually and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings for the credit risk based on their historical
default rate, probability of default and exposure of default and were
adjusted for forward-looking information that was available without
undue cost or effort. The Group did not hold any collateral over
these balances.

As at 31 March 2018, 48% of trade receivables that are neither
past due nor impaired have the best credit scoring attributable
under the internal credit scoring system used by the Group as they
have no historical rate at default.

14.

B3 RWFRE

AEEBANRBETIZEEFTABRZAHRHE
EmitmEEFRE30BE60 HNEER - K&
HIREN SRR A28 5 RUGRIRRE DT -

2019 2018
—E—-hEF —ZT-)\F
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FHET
12,968 17,118
16,338 19,370
5,473 2,700
6,484 5,665
41,263 44,853
(117) =
41,146 44,853

REERZEREMFEL A EEEEPNERYE
ERATEEERE - TPNEERESTHR
A AEBERAMEEBERRERABE  HER
HEBEREHIZ BB EUCR A A B 1 FHE
NERP ORI DT A RS T AR RIEERSELE
BEAG(REERE  BEKOESE RATETE
o

RZZE—hhFEZAZ+—8 AEEBZEKXK
B A EEEEA15,389,000 THEKRE P X
B ZRERHESHACHE - ZSHHEST
6,484,000/ 7T B B HAFB B O0 K M I R R BIEL -
AEEETHZEEFNESUREZERFNR
BN MFEEBHARE  RECEGETE
BAEY  HERHOXNE SRR BRI EE
BEREXTHEORER - I R AEELEHE
DHAREE TRARTRERRENE RIEH X8
BREERABRERF - BRERFPEITEBTE &/
BEZETFHNELENE  BOBMERREHNRR
FRHEERBREESENEEEBERTELH
ERBZMKANRE A ESATEEER LA
B o REBEWERZSEHISE TR -

RIZ-N\E=ZA=+—H RREBHTEREN
B B IR FIA 48% RIE R EE A EET D Rt
BEERSEEND  BERRARELBEELENE -

SHNREEERAT « ZF-/\/-NFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—ZT—AF=A=+—HILFE

14.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2018, included in the Group’s trade receivables
were debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$23,547,000. In determining the recoverability of a trade
receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of
the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to
the end of each reporting period. The trade receivables past due
but not provided for as at the end of each reporting period were
either subsequently settled or from customers with no history of
default. The Group did not hold any collaterel over these balance,
The directors of the Company believe no credit provision is
required. No impairment loss of trade receivables recognised as at
31 March 2018.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period.

31-60 days 31E60H
61-90 days 61E290H
Over 90 days HiBooH
Total wET

Details of impairment of trade receivables for the year ended 31
March 2019 were set out in note 30. The ECL of trade receivables
as at 1 April 2018 (upon the application of HKFRS 9) and 31
March 2019 was approximately HK$62,000 and HK$117,000
respectively.

Trade receivables of HK$219,000 (2018: HK$209,000) were
denominated in United States Dollars (“USD”) and that of
HK$1,553,000 (2018: nil) were denominated in Singapore Dollars
(“SGD”) at 31 March 2019.
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B 5 RO ()

R-ZB-—NE=ZA=1+—0 A&EEZFREKFE
145 BR T 42 {E 4 /223,547,000 7 7T B FE UL AR 18 -
BTrESEWHBERKRE R  NEEEZEENS
BRHEERAHREESREHRIEFERFERE
BEEMIMEE REREHRACHHETE
BENEIRBFBEAEADES KA BEL
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e AAREERE  BARMIELEZEER
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TE I FEFERRE ©

REBEHAREREZBIEENEBHERRED
B 5 RYIRRER DT

2018
—T-N\F
HK$’000
FHT

15,182
2,700
5,665

23,547

BE_Z-NF=ZA=+—BILFE EZFRKX
TERE 2 S IEEHAME30 - RZZT—N\FMA—H
(RERBEBVBRESLNFIR) R -_E—NF=
A=+t—RAMEBESZRUIGREEREEBED NG
62,00087T &% 117,000 7T °

R-ZZE—NhEZA=Z+—8 E5EKFEH
219,000/ 7t (= ZF — )\ : 209,000/ 7T ) AETT
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

15.

RETENTION RECEIVABLES/OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

15. BRREBES HtEKFE - RERANGTE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —=-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Non-current: JERNHER :
Retention receivables (Note) IR & (L) - 9,361
Other deposits Hitniz & 881 1,335
Deposits paid for purchase of property, BEYE  HELRECHEZS
plant and equipment 994 -
Total 45t 1,875 10,696
Current: BHE -
Retention receivables (Note) IR S (L) - 7,428
Advances to suppliers BRTFHER 3,764 5,144
Deposits b 27 38
Staff advances BI#R 183 293
Prepayments SEANE/OE 921 1,063
MPF/ORSO received SeiES R IANET &G FE YR IE 390 768
Interest receivables FLEFEMGRIE 168 59
5,453 7,365
Total 5T 7,328 25,489

Note:  Retention monies withheld by customers of contract works are unsecured,
interest-free and recoverable after the completion of maintenance period
of the relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified in
the relevant contracts, which was mostly within 1 year from the date of
completion of respective E&M engineering solutions and services projects.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the retention receivables
to be received after 1 year were classified as non-current assets in
consolidated statement of financial position since was not expected to
realise the retention receivables in the Group’s normal operating cycle.

The retention receivables were to be settled, based on the expiry of
the defects liability period, at 31 March 2018:

On demand or within one year BERIR—FA
After one year but less than three years R—FRER=ZFA

Upon application of HKFRS 15, the retentions receivables were
reclassified to contract assets.

Details of impairment of other receivables for the year ended 31
March 2019 were set out in note 30.

Wit - EPHIBHEA TIERES BELHT  2ERRIEHE
AT IR L IRIFIART A A LE IR AT A E] - K
ZHBE VK ET AR R RIRFEE B STk B A
FH1FRIE o KL AIEFZRR - R—F 2 RWER A
JEWRE 21 E BRI RS
BIEHRFEEEEEE AN T LT EURE S

REEFRZBEN -_Z-N\F=ZA=+—-BERREH

[EmREE

REREEHBREENF 165 - BERESE

MOBERWEE -

BE_T-NF=ZA=+—HLFE - HRYIX

R BERHIBEREES0

SHNREEERAT « ZF-/\/-NFFH
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2018
—F-N\F
HK$’000
FHT

7,428
9,361

16,789
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE=-—Z—AF=A=+—

BIEFE

16. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR 16.

CONTRACT WORKS

Contracts in progress at the end of the
reporting period:

Actual costs incurred plus recognised profits

less recognised losses
Less: Progress billings

Analysed as:

Amounts due from customers for contract works
Amounts due to customers for contract works

W EBNEHNIREFRE

2018
—T—)\F
HK$’000
FHT

BEEE BRI MR IR

EiEREE
B EE IR
DR
BN AN TIREFHIE

ENaHNIREFPFEA

As at 31 March 2018, retention receivables held by customers of
contract works amounted to HK$16,789,000 were set out in note

15.

Upon application of HKFRS 15, the amounts due from/to
customers for contract works were reclassified to contract assets/

liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

17.

CONTRACT ASSETS

E&M engineering solutions and services
E&M engineering design
and fabrication services

Total 4RET

The amounts in this column are after adjustment from the
application of HKFRS 15.

Represented by: Bl :
Non-current FERED
Current i)

Note:  The amounts in this column are after adjustment from the application of
HKFRS 15.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which the engineering
services are performed representing the Group’s right to
consideration for the services performed and not billed because
the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance
accepted by the customers. The contract assets are transferred
to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional. The
Group typically transfers its contract assets to trade receivables
when progress certificate/invoice is issued. The Group generally
provides their customers with one to three years maintenance
period from the date of the practical completion of the project.
Upon the expiration of maintenance period, the customers will
provide a maintenance certificate and pay the retentions within the
term specified in the contract.

The Group classifies certain of contract assets, which are expected
to be recovered more than 12 months, as current because the
Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide the ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. Loss allowance of HK$93,000 was
recognised during the year. Details of impairment of contract assets
for the year ended 31 March 2019 were set out in note 30.

HE TR RERS
HE TI2RA MR

BREE

31 March 1 April
2019 2018
—Z-hE —EN\&F
=A=+-—H mA—A
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
(Note)

(B1at)

49,320 42,420

13 1,567

49,333 43,987

KRR EBEARME M B MELELF 165 FD
IR H)BER o

6,785 9,358
42,548 34,629
49,333 43,987

Wit o AHIT 2 BRI BB iR R E 15 S 1E M %
BB

EMEE  HKREARSOBENANEE RE
ETRRENPRHEER  RRASEEEACER
BREAAENRGERAE  AAZFENTIEUR
REFPEMAEERRRE - BRUTEREGRME
B ANEEEBREEZRWE  AREBREE
BHEERE MERSESNEEERERIE
WE - AEEREREEPRHETEE ERTK
PR —==FOREH - RRIEJERER &
FRRHERERERREMNEENRRAS N RE

AEEEERENBA12ERKENETANEE
HERRD - REAREBERGREESELR
HNERRSEE -

BREEEVHMELAERNRT - NEBERAG
LR RBEMEREER - FACSEREREE
93,0008 - BE_E-—NF=ZA=T—HILFE
ZEREENREFFIBEHNMFES0 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZE-_ZT—NAFE=A=+—HIFE

18. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 18.

E&M engineering solutions and services HE TR R RS

Note:  The amounts in this column are after adjustment from the application of

HKFRS 15.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of the year

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

— Engineering service contracts

The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits
range from 5% to 20% of total contract sum, when the Group
receives a deposit before the project commences, this will give rise
to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the full amount
of deposit is deducted proportionately from progress payment.
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!!QFI”‘I.'

BHEE
31 March 1 April
2019 2018
e —E-N\F
=A=+-—H mA—H
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Note
B
17,145 21,022
Hist - FAWHR 2 BRI BB BFREERE 16 K ELHHE

TRIRELEBA O BRI AFERROK
SEERNEEREETRORTEBNKESR -

Engineering
service
contracts
IRBRBEN
HK$'000
FHET

SFAFYIR DA EEER
M BRI

18,998

FERODERCHEES AN RGN T

- TIERBAYH

AEBEEBRETEFPRHEENZE SRV TRE
HDEEHS% E20% @ BEAKE LA R BT REIZ
T BEREAHNFBELEANEE  EERENE
e R AERE N FURLPIFNE
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19. TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER
THREE MONTHS/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2019, bank balances and cash comprise cash held
by the Group and bank deposit carry interest at market rates which
range from 0.01% to 3.02% (2018: 0.01% to 3.36%) per annum
with an original maturity of three months or less.

As at 31 March 2019, pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to a bank to secure a bank facility granted by a bank to
the Group, carried fixed interest rates ranged from 0.01% to 0.3%
(2018: 0.01%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2019, time deposits with original maturity over
three months carry fixed interest rates ranged from 1.40% to
3.45% (2018: 0.69% to 1.28%) per annum.

The Group’s short-term time deposits, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances and cash that are denominated in currencies which
are not the functional currency of the Group are set out below:

Euro (“EUR”) BT ([®e))
Renminbi (“‘RMB”) AREB(TAR%E])
UsD I

New Taiwan Dollars (‘NTD”) Heat(Han))
SGD FANS T

20. TRADE PAYABLES

The credit period on purchases and subcontracting of contract
work services ranges from 30 to 60 days. The following is an aged
analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at
the end of the reporting period:

Trade payables: B SR FA
0-30 days 0&Z30H
31-60 days 31E260H
61-90 days 61Z290H
91-365 days 912 365H
Over 365 days BB 365 H

19. REHBBRB={AANEHRER HEPERTE
R BRITERRESE

RIZE—NE=ZA=1+—H8 ' RILEHELELEE
AEEMBEREREINHAA=Z@EASIATRITE
FIENTF001%E3.02% (ZF—N\F:001% =
3.36%) KITHIZFFFET S o

MR-ZB—-HE=ZA=1+—0 BHEBBITFEIEE
BTRITUARTARNEERENRITRE EE
o RETEFEFENR0.01% E0.3%( =T —/)\F :
0.01%)&t 8 -

RIB-AF=A=+—H RIHEEB=EA
B E B B REEEFMENF1.40% £3.45% (=
Z—\F : 0.69% £ 1.28%) HIIRITIEA

VAT 8 51 A SR B 3 AR R B T B & B EHE RO K2
EMER - BEMBOTERMBITESRERS

As at 31 March

R=A=+—8
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHT
895 582
2,731 2,810
1,217 677
171 376
316 -

20. EFZENRIEA

BERSBEHNIERBHEERNFI0E60H
LTARREHAEREZBHEINE FENK
BERE DT -

2019 2018
—E-NEF —TN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TR
5,964 3,464

153 89

1,804 694

467 879

4,901 4,901
13,289 10,027
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20. TRADE PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, included in the trade payables
aged over 365 days was an amount of HK$4,901,000,
representing the full provision of the Group’s contractual obligation,
which was pending settlement as the Group was in dispute with
the counterparty for final settlement. No reversal of this payable
was recognised during the two years ended 31 March 2019 as the
derecognition criteria in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies does not meet.

As at 31 March 2019, trade payables of HK$590,000 (2018:
HK$370,000) was denominated in USD.

21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

Accrued staff costs FEETE IR
Provision for annual leave FREE
Provision for long service payments REIRIS S B
Retention payables (Note) FERHREB® (B1:E)
Other accrued charges HibfEst &R

Note: Retention payables to sub-contractors of contract work are interest-free
and payable by the Company after the completion of maintenance period
of the relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified in the
relevant contracts, ranges from 1 to 2 years from the completion date of
the respective E&M engineering solutions and services contracts.

22. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the major deferred tax liabilities recognised and
movements during the current and prior years.

At 1 April 2017 RZZE—+FMHA—H
Charge to profit or loss (note 10) Nk B8B= (Wi 10)

At 31 March 2018 RZE—)\F=ZA=+—H
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (note 10) (FTA) MR B8 (A772 10)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NE=R=+—H
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20. EZEMNFIEAGE

W2 AER-F—/\E=A=+-A"

FTAE

5 FE 15 Z0 I8 #Y) BR #4 B 18 365 H B9 FUIE 44,901,000
BT ERAEBANETERBEE - ZREF
“E DHERAEEREFIRERREETESZ
- RBEE-_Z—NF-AZ+—HLMEFE
WiEERBE R ZEMNRIE - AAREANEESH K
K ETFEEUHMERIZE -

RZZE—AF=ZA=+—8 ' EZEFNFIE590,000
I (—Z— \4F : 370,000787T) LAETTHIE °

21, HENFERETER

2019 2018
—B-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx THTT
4,053 4,207
2,339 2,309
674 760
3,448 2,455
2,107 1,861
12,621 11,592
Wit . B2 EENENTERETSRE BN ARE

BB R IEBISEIR IR SR IFRARE & AT HE ARSI -
BB E T IR AT R R IR & HI7T /K F BTEER I F

1224 -

22, EEHIE
NTARAFERBEFERANEZRIEFIES
HREH -

Accelerated
tax Provision of
(accounting) long service
depreciation payment Total
pilsT e
(B3 #HE RERBSERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
250 (159) 91
123 34 157
373 (125) 248
(54) 14 (40)
319 (111) 208
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23.

RS E = B

SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital of the Group at 31 March 2019 and 2018
represents the share capital of the Company as follows:

23.

IR

REERZ

—HERZZE-NF=ZA=+—HH

RATEA LR TE!’JHMK EIHXZISZZDT-

Number of shares Amount
R EE k-]
’000 HK$'000
T FAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREEO0.01 B TH L@
Authorised: ETE
At 5 May 2017 (date of incorporation) R_ZE—+tERARA GEMKZ B ) 38,000 380
Addition (Note a) NE (Kita) 3,762,000 37,620
At 31 March 2019 and 2018 R-E-NER-ZT-N\FE=A=1+—H 3,800,000 38,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREELR -
At 5 May 2017 (date of incorporation) RZZE—+FRARA GEMKZ A )
(Note b) (Kii#b) - -
Issue of shares as part of Reorganisation EAER-_Z—+FNAKE
on 6 September 2017 (Note c) B —BARITRG (HiEc) 10 =
Capitalisation Issue (Note d BRI (W7 d) 299,990 3,000
Issue of shares on 16 October 2017 by way RZZ—tF+ A+ BEBRH
of share offer and placing (Note d) BERRENFTAETRG (HiZd) 100,000 1,000
At 31 March 2019 and 2018 —hERZE-N\E=A=+—H 400,000 4,000
Notes: aE -
(a) On 29 September 2017, the authorised share capital of the Company was (@) REFE—+FENAZFNHA  RER=ZF—+FAA
increased from HK$380,000 to HK$38,000,000 by the creation of a further - ‘/‘Ei@}ﬂﬂ?ﬂnﬁ 1B 3 762,000,000 K ET1E0.01
3,762,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each pursuant to a resolution passed JETTHIRG - K2 A E R 380,0008T =2
on 20 September 2017. 38,000,000t °
(b) On date of incorporation, 1 share of HK$0.01 was allotted and issued to (b) ReFMek i 5 - —fRIETE 0.01 BT a9 17 0.01 7T
KML Holdings at a subscription price of HK$0.01. HIZRFE BRI R #7T 7 KML Holdings °
) As part of the Reorganisation, the Company issued shares during the (© ERBAR —F 7 + AL AR T XA EZEETR
current year which are detailed below: 1
[0} On 9 June 2017, 45, 35 and 19 shares of the Company were 0 )f/‘_ FE—+FENNANA 4588 - 358K 198
allocated and issued to KML Holdings, Mr. KM Luk and Madam REIR G FIE T RECE T KML Holdings + [#
Leung respectively, and EHEERRL L R

(i) On 6 September 2017, the Company issued 4,554, 3,465 and @ REF—EFENANA + KR EJEIKML Holdings
1,881 shares to KML Holdings, Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung, ﬂ*f%@?ﬁfi"&%ﬁ( 153 7T 4,654 % + 3,465/%%
respectively. K% 1,881 BBk 17 »

(@) The shares of the Company have been listed on the GEM of the Stock @ AREBGR-ZB—+F+ A+ NAEBRGFERL

Exchange by way of share offer and placing on 16 October 2017.
100,000,000 shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each were issued at an
offer price of HK$0.60 per share by way of share offer and placing (the
“Share Offer’). On the same date, 299,990,000 of the Company’s new
shares were issued through capitalisation of HK$2,999,900 standing to
the credit of share premium account of the Company (the “Capitalisation
Issue”) to Controlling Shareholders.

E RS GEM LT » KR RIEFEBIR (¥ ERIERZ
R B E (B 0.60% 7T %77 100,000,000 SR 4R [E7 18 0.01
BTG (R BE)) - RIAIH - KL EFBERE
TR GR35 18 e it B 58 2,999,900 /8 TT [ AR IR B8 3%
77.299,990,000 SRR (7 ([ EAAL 81T ]) °
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24, COMMITMENTS
(@) Operating lease commitments

The Group as lessee

The Group leases various office premises under non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease terms are
between 2-5 years, and the majority of lease agreements are
renewable at the end of the lease period at market rates.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group had commitment
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

Land and buildings T RAEF
Within one year R—FRA
In the second to fifth year inclusive Fo_EEERIF(BREEREMRF)

(b) Capital commitments

i

(a)

(b)

REAERE

AEEEBEBA
AEEHETTHEKLHEBHE TNE
EMNEDE - HEHRR2ESF - AXH
DIEE BRI NEPRETISERES -

R-ZB-NFER-ZE-NF=ZA=+—8"
REBEHA T HBELEHER THRRE
EEEAE - HEHMT

Capital expenditure in respect of addition ~ BEREWE - MELRRENERFHAR

of property, plant and equipment:

— Contracted for but not provided in the —BRTAERRERE P ImE T

consolidated financial statements FHEREE
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2019 2018

S o

HK$’000 HK$000

FRTL FHT

5,701 5,402

150 4,776

5,851 10,178
CE

2019 2018

—g-ng  —TNF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FiH THT

1,200 =
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25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with its
related parties during the both years:

Purchase of materials from Logistic Industrial
(Note a) (Hizta)
Rental fee paid to
KML Limited (Note b)
K.M. Luk & Engineers Limited

Notes:

@ Logistic Industrial Supply Company Limited (“Logistic Industrial’) is a
company which Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung have significant influence
over it.

(b) KML Limited is controlled by Mr. KM Luk. The rental fee paid is regarded
as continuing a connected transaction.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel of the Company are the directors
of the Company. Their remunerations during the years ended 31
March 2019 and 2018 were set out in note 8.

26. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in
December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to
the establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice
of staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF
Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the Group on or after
1 December 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is
matched by the employee.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group at rates ranging from 5% to 8% of the
employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service with
the Group.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$2,833,000
(2018: HK$2,890,000) during the year ended 31 March 2019
represents contributions paid and payable to these plans by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

The contributions paid and payable to the schemes by the Group
are disclosed in note 9.

A&+ TRRBYE

25.

ST TIAENHSER
BERARAR (Hithb)
R TI2AR AR

26.

BEE RS

BEaMBMREMEMREEN  AEERRE
FREEEBMBIRETIIRS

2019 2018
—g-nE B )F
HK$°000 HK$000
FHT FHT
131 35

4,847 4,206

- 26

Haz

@) B TRBHBERAG ([BLITH]) BEERLLRER
K1 HAEEAFZEHILNA]

®) EEFR L A BEE TS 1) - EX(TH)E 21 /5355
BREEXS -

BEREEASHH
ARAAREERABR/ARAEE - RERBEZ
E-NFR-E-N\F=ZA=1T—HILFENHHH
iNGERE Sl

BABEFGE

REE 2 EFREMREE - W RIBR RN B
BGOIE B RHIMEATEEH B (R _E2TF+ A
RIBEBNERTES OIS ) M - ZFFTHEE
HETARESTEAEE BAKE 2 BES R
B RREBESHBRIABRBERABIKEZ
REGHEBEBE2EBERKTE  REBE2
BEEHE ER_FETFT A —HARZEMN
AREBZ EEEIASIRIESFTE

BRREFTECKEME - AREBERABRESS
ZEBTERARNESS ik ZEMHKERE 2K
B

BRI BN B 2 A R A RE RARE IR
NTREBIEY 5% 2 8% (EF A H5  BRNRET
REEERE RS -

RBE-_E-AE=A=1+—ALFEF REX
FROHE SR Y 425 2,833,000 T ( - — )\ F
2,890,000 7T ) FE AN & BIRIEET 8 R A3E E A9 LL =
B RIEMZEF BRI -

REEAZE BT AN REE RO 9

5= o
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27.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 27. AATMBABMNFEE
The Company has direct and indirect interests in its subsidiaries, all AARRENBAREAE B LEEED A
of which are private limited liability companies (or, if incorporated WEBARAFABREER R (KN ESEIN M
outside Hong Kong, have substantially similar characteristics to a KA BEBIARN TR ABIELIMER) © 15
private company in Hong Kong), the particulars of which at the end mr
of the reporting period are as follows:
Attributable equity
interest of the Group
as at 31 March
RT3 B B
Issued ordinary/ AEEREADL
Place and date registered share =A=1-H
Name of incorporation Place of operation capital 2019 2018 Principal activities
BRITLER,/
£ SMAIEHRAE  SERE RA ZE-NE -\ IEER
Directly held:
HERE:
KML Group (BV)) BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited 16 May 2017 5 E RERR
ABRUES
“T—tFRATAA
Indirectly held:
BiERE
KML Engineering Limited - Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Provision of professional E&M system
BERETIRERAR 12 August 1977 B 10,000,00077C engineering services for railway and
& road transport infrastructure projects
-AtENRTZR and sales of parts and components
RERRABTBERER
RUBEREZHTR
RBREERH RIS
KML Technology Limited - Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$3,020,000 100% 100% Provision of professional E&M system
S NG 21 October 1988 B 3,020,000 57T engineering services for raiway and
&5 road transport infrastructure projects
—NW\E RERRABTBERER
+A=+-8 RUEEREZRTR

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2018/19

vy



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HE—Z—hFE=A=+—HI-FE

28.

29.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 28. HE-—MBEHBEAR
On 9 June 2017, the Company disposed of its entire interest RZZF—tFXRANA  ERERRAREHEA
in KML Transtech Limited to Ms. Chan Patricia, for a total RRERAREEFERANELZ  AAFRER
consideration of HK$1,932,722 with reference to the Company’s 81,932,722 8 TR IS L T HEN A EAR
interest in the net asset value of KML Transtech Limited. The net BRAREIHKE - SFEARBARARIREE
assets of KML Transtech Limited at the date of disposal were as HEIRWEEFENT ¢
follows:
Analysis of asset and liability over which control was lost: HEAKITHENEERBBENDN
HK$'000
FET
Bank balance and cash IRITEHREIRS 1,936
Accrual EETER )
Net asset disposed of LEEEFE 1,933
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—REHEAR Z W
Consideration received BRRE 1,933
Net asset disposed of HEEEFE (1,933)
Gain on disposal & s S
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZHRSRLFE
Cash consideration received BUIRERE 1,938
Less: bank balance and cash disposed of B HERITEBREIES (1,936)
3)

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity
of the Group, comprising issued share capital and accumulated
profits.

Management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly
taking into account the cost of capital and the risk associated
with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure
through issuance of new shares and the raise of borrowings.

29.

EXREMEE

REERERHEERARRARENE R EHSE
e RASEREEBRERERSER ATE
S INEIE

AEENERARBHASEER MESENX 215
BEITRARRFEN -

AEEERELAREARANEERFHAE
% ERREEARE - ARESBBEITIEN
RESEE  TEHEBRELLEE-
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets EWMEE

Loans and receivables (including cash BERMERFE (BIERE
and cash equivalents) MRSEEY)

Amortised cost B EER AR

Financial liabilities c@mas

Amortised cost BEHPC AN

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade receivables,
retention receivables held by customers for contract works, other
receivables and deposits, pledged bank deposits, time deposits
with original maturity over three months, bank balances and cash,
trade payables, other payables and accrued charges. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

Certain bank balances and cash, time deposits with original
maturity over three months, trade receivables and trade payables
of the Group are denominated in foreign currencies of respective
group entities, i.e. RMB, EUR, USD, NTD and SGD. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s bank balances and cash, time deposits
with original maturity over three months, trade receivables and
trade payables denominated in foreign currencies at the end of
each reporting period are as follows:

RVB N
EUR BT
Usb =T
NTD ek
SGD N

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2018/19

Financial assets

SRIA
SR EER
2019 2018
—E-hF —T—)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
- 129,367
130,616 -
22,897 18,550

BEREE R EREGE
AEENERTAREESREGUR EPHAAH
ITREFAENREFRES  HbRBRUFEEES &
HIRRITER - REMABB=ANERFR
RITEBRREES - EHRMNFR - HRNFIAR
EETER - 25T ANFENSMERE - &
ZE BT A AR AR R AR A& % F AR A
RN T - BIEEEE R EEZEARIATER R
IR 0GRt N1 THE & FE 56 -

EHmmE

ZK;EE’U%FF@ETT s RRE - REMBERE=(E

HE’JEHHT?* B 5 RUGRIA K E 5 BN RIS
MBI (AR - BT - £ - AW R

Bﬂi&n) FIE - NEIMEARINEFIEM AL le"

mHEkEL  RIPABB=EANTHER B

SRR LA B BN SRR BRI BT -

Financial liabilities

LREE *REeE
As at 31 March As at 31 March
R=A=+—H R=A=+—H
2019 2018 2019 2018

—E-AE —T-)\F ZF-AE —T)\F
HK$°000

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET FHET FHET

2,731 2,810 3 S
895 582 - S
1,436 886 590 370
171 376 = 98
1,869 S - S
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the directors of the Company monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.

Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pegged with USD, the Group
does not expect any significant movements in the USD/HK$
exchange rates. Thus, there is no sensitivity analysis on USD
denominated financial assets.

Sensitivity analysis of strengthening 10% in functional currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) against foreign currencies and keeping all
other variables constant resulted an decrease in post-tax profit of
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. For a 10% weakening
of HK$ against foreign currencies there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the results.

RMB N
EUR BT
SGD ST AT

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in bank
balances and cash and pledged bank deposits (note 19) as at 31
March 2019 and 2018.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group is also exposed to fair
value interest rate risk in relation to fixed rate time deposits with
original maturity over three months.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate
its exposure associated with interest rate risk. However, the
management of the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis

In the opinion of management of the Group, the expected change
in interest rate will not have significant impact on the interest
income or expenses on payments for bank balances and pledged
bank deposits, hence sensitivity analysis is not presented.

30.

SHTA(J)
BREAREREEEREE (&)

B (H)
REBERK L EIMNELIDREEK - AT ARRES
EEFESNE BRI T RIS BN ERSNE R

BT TTIRENE - AREETEA ETT B TE
RWERALMERES - Fit - WERAXTIENS
BMEEGURED

A BTN BL A (BB TT) SO FHE 10% R P &
fEBRFTENREE S SRRE_T—N
ER-F—\F=A=+—HILERRBERTIR
b o BBTHAMERE10% TS - HERBELES
S RIRMPE -

2019 2018
—e-nE T NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FRTL THT
228 235

75 49

156 8

FUZE f
RZE—hEFR-_ZFE-—N\F=ZA=1+—H ' £&H
RARITEE R NIA S RERAIBTFR (T 19) iR
REREFRRR -

R-_BE-hhER-_FT-N\F=ZA=1+—H0  £&£H
NEREBFNZEEHRIPABE=EANTH
GEROARBEFERR -

R 8] 3 A PR AR ) A R F A DR R EL B A R Y
R\ o AT - ANEREEIE RN R AR LN E
RS Z BN E AN R ER -

R AT

AEEERERR  NERAEBHHTSHN K
ARZ M RITESRREERRITEFANAELELSE
AFE - Rt E2 5| BREE AT o
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge the
obligations by counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statements of financial position at the end of the
reporting period. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, contract assets, other receivables and deposits,
pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over
three months and bank balances.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring system to
assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. The level of credit granted must not exceed a
predetermined level set by the management. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed once a year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9
(2018: incurred loss model) on trade receivables and contract
assets individually or based on provision matrix. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk on trade receivables
and contract assets by geographical locations is mainly in Hong
Kong, which accounted for 95.7% (2018: 99.5%) of the total trade
receivables and 76% (2018: 64.3%) of the total contract assets as
at 31 March 2019.
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risks on trade receivables
and contract assets with exposure limited to certain customers.
Top five customers amounting to HK$31,975,000 (2018:
HK$42,580,000) comprised approximately 78% (2018: 90%) of the
Group’s trade receivables and 76% (2018: Nil) of the Group’s total
contract assets as at 31 March 2019. As at 31 March 2019, 70.8%
(2018: 64.3%) of the Group’s trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer.

Pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over
three months and bank balances

The Group has a concentration of credit risk on pledged bank
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months
and bank balances deposited with a few major banks. The credit
risk on these balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with good reputation and with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Other receivables

The management of the Group regularly reviews and assesses
the credit quality of the counterparties. The Group uses 12-month
ECL to assess the loss allowance of other receivables since these
receivables are not past due and there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Based on internal
credit assessment, the directors of the Company consider that
these assets are low credit risk financial assets due to the short-
term nature and the probability of default is negligible. Hence, no
loss allowance was recognised during year ended 31 March 2019.

Other than the concentration risk as disclosed at above, the Group
does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk.

30.
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42,580,000 70) 5 AN E E 5 EUFIBA) 78% (=
T \F:00%) RAEEBBANEETH(ZF
—N\F T)  RZE-NFZA=F+—H  K&EE
B S EUETETRT70.8%( —ZF— \4F : 64.3%) B
REBHZRARFA -

ERARITIEH - REH A8 =8 A 0 E 7
RIRTTAE A

FEBBBENSERRTEN  RIABABE=(E
HHOTE B SR 2 — e = RERITAVIRITAE RN SR
FERR - ZFHEBNEERRER  BARX5H
FHRBERIFEHEREETARBIENSE
EER2IRIT

Bl fEHA TR

AEEEREEEREMEAERZEFINEREL
%o AREEM 128 AR EREREE B EK
FRERBIERE  AARSRUFRLEARNE
VIRFERLEE G R e W EE AL - RIBAZE
BiHE - ARAEER /BN EHNE FEOT
A28 ZEEERBEERREE - At 1
BET-NFZA=Z+-ALFELERREE
B -

B £ IR BE SRR I RSP -
BREREERR

A ER B AT EL A

SHNREEERAT « ZE-/\/-NEFFH

133



134

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

N + A
e R Rk M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-—T—NF=A=+—HILFE
30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the
following categories:

30. £@MIA(E)
HEEREERERBE (&)

EE R R AETE (F)

REBENARBEERRFREIE TR -

Internal Trade receivables/
credit rating Description contract assets Other financial assets
R BB E TR Ei:pud BERRWTE AHEE HtLmEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL
el does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired 12 AFEHREEEIE
RHHFEHNRBRRE  AEE(aEHeRE FEMEREERE —&E
BRE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL
Rz B8 usually settle in full not credit-impaired 12 AFEHRZ B &8
BEHALBEIBAREER - BREEINEE TFEMEREERE —&E
BEBEE BRE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
Al &R risk since initial recognition through information not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources FEMEREERR - &F TEPRREERE—&F
B8 E N EB R B R & S SN ER B IR W) A HERR LA BRE BRE
k- EERBREEIL N
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
&8 impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
BREBRPEEFEGERE GFEMEHEESFE -8 FEREHEERE 8
DERIE] BIE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off Amount is written off
s severe financial difficulty and the Group has no  ZRIEE #fi44 FRIBE EH

realistic prospect of recovery
BREBRABRBARNRENIFRE - M
£EBRKOFIENEE YT
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 30. £@MIE(E)
Financial risk management objectives and policies BSEREEEZREBE (&)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EEERER BEFE (E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s THREHENBARBTEBEESBIMNAERSHE
financial assets and contract assets, which are subject to ECL ERAHNBEENEERRIBN
assessment:
External Internal Gross carrying
2019 Notes credit rating credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount
—E-NF MizE  INEBEEFIR AEEFR  12@AxGFERBHEERE AERTE(E
HK$'000
T
Financial assets at
amortised cost
BBERAHENSMEE
Pledged bank deposits 19 AA+ N/A 12-month ECL 10,782
BEBRITER TEA 12 AEREESSE
Time deposits with original 19 AA+ N/A 12-month ECL 40,050
maturity over three months NEA 12 AEHSEEEsE
RIHABBEB=EATEH
Bank balances 19 AA+ N/A 12-month ECL 36,989
IRITAEER TEA 12EAEREERSE
Other receivables 15 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 1,649
H b e IE ™EA ERE 128 AEEMEEEE
Trade receivables 14 N/A (Note)  Lifetime ECL 6,631
E W IE T iE A (Wat) TGEBEHREEEBE
14 N/A Lowrisk  Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) 34,632
T iE A KR FEBEREEEE(EEERE)
41,263
Contract assets 17 N/A (Note)  Lifetime ECL 4,528
EREE A iE A (Wat) TGEREHREEEBE
17 N/A Lowrisk  Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) 44,925
T iE A KR FEBEREEEE(BEERE)
49,453
Note: For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the Hist : BESERTEREEEMS @+ NEFE EHEEE

simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding balances, the Group
determines the expected credit losses on these items by using a provision
matrix, grouped by internal credit rating.

B EERE OB BT E A IR B R RS B 1R
T EEREE - BRBEAKNEEEHEIEBEAS 2
LR GRERANSEETFR  ETZFHEEME

HIEEER -
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Provision matrix — internal credit rating

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applied internal credit rating for its customers in relation to its
engineering services of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables and contract assets which are assessed based on
provision matrix as at 31 March 2019 within lifetime ECL (not credit
impaired). Debtors with significant outstanding balances for trade
receivables and contract assets with gross carrying amounts of
HK$34,632,000 and HK$44,925,000 respectively as at 31 March
2019 were assessed individually.

30.

ST A(J)
BEEAREREEEREEK (&)

EE R R AETE (F)

P EAEIE — AES 5 AR
EAAEEFERREEN R ALEREH
ETIRBREEFBEANKERIMNTE RERE
MENEEFEARNDBEEFR - TRIZEREHE
SREBREREHNEEFERBRMNER  Z5RE
R-ZE—hEZA=+—ACEREBRETET
BHEREEBE(EEERE) RZZE—NF
A+ BHHESERFERENEEMmS - A
EEABEHNBERTED B 534,632,0008 7T &%
44,925,000 BT ERS AR EEFTE ©

Gross carrying amount AEARE(E
Trade
Average loss Contract receivables
rate assets past due
BHES
FHEEER BREE FEW R IR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Risk level [BRR R

Low risk {liwEE 0.09% 4,271 2,953
Watch list BREE 4.04% 2,360 1,575

The estimated loss rates and risk level are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group provided
HK$55,000 and HK$93,000 impairment allowance for trade
receivables and contract assets respectively, based on the
provision matrix. No impairment allowance was made on debtors
with significant balance during year ended 31 March 2019.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has

been recognised for trade receivables and contract assets under
the simplified approach.

30.

SHTA(J)
BREAREREEEREE (&)

EEmER R RETE (F)

TRETRESEIDEREZERRFTARANEE
RN EREREEBEENEDER -

Trade
receivables Contract assets
E S EWRRE EHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FExT
As at 31 March 2018 under HKAS 39 RSB ERE 395
R-BE—-N\E=A=+—H
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 9 RIERB AR ELERE SRR AR 62) (27)
As at 1 April 2019-As restated R-ZB-HAFHA—B-KLE (62) @7)
Changes due to financial instruments RUA—HE®#REMIA
recognised as at 1 April: EREE)
— Reversal (additional) of impairment losses ~ — $[8l (& hn) (A8 39 (60)
New financial assets originated EEFNESREE (94) (33)
As at 31 March 2019 R=—Z—-hFE=A=+—H (117) (120)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. No trade receivable nor contract
assets were written off by the Group during both years.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of unexpected fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay.

HEEBNBTEBATEERENBRMEL ARK
Bl FURR & BT (IES AR B R IE AWETR
F) HEEBZFACANEEME (UAREER
%) REEBMHZIRE SRWFIR - RMEFE
N - AEEREMEE S EESRRANEE -

RBESAE
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2019

Non-derivative
financial liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables

As at 31 March 2018

Non-derivative
financial liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables

30. £@MIEA(E)

BRAREREEEREEK (&)

Fair value of financial instruments

Management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

mEELEE (&)
Weighted
average Total
effective interest undiscounted Total carrying
rate On demand Within 1 year cash flows amount
ARRE
I ERA = RER R1ER RELE BREE
% HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TERT
RZZ-NE=A=1—H
FTESRERE
BIENFE N/ATEH 5,964 7,325 13,289 13,289
HAbER B N/ATEH 9,608 - 9,608 9,608
15,572 7,325 22,897 22,897
Weighted average Total
effective undiscounted Total carrying
interest rate On demand Within 1 year cash flows amount
ARRE
IEFERTE REX M1ER NELE BREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FET FET
RZZ-\§=A=+—H
FTESREE
BHRENTE N/ATE A 3,464 6,563 10,027 10,027
Hity BRI 50R NATER 8,523 - 8,523 8,523
11,987 6,563 18,550 18,550
SRIAARE
AEEEEERE  REBEKARIAGEMBRE
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31.

32.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE 31. BEHER
As at 31 March 2019, performance guarantee of approximately RZZF—NF=A=+—8 ' BAIERE5,424,000
HK$5,424,000 (2018: HK$2,594,000) was given by a bank BIT(ZZF—)\F : 2,504,000/87T) AIRITUAREE
in favour of the Group’s customers as security for the due BEAEIBZANEL  EABERARESTAERR
performance and observance of the Group’s obligations under the AREFHZZPEIVHANE FNEBHER o MK
contracts entered into between the Group and its customers. If the EEREREATRAERNEZPREES ARE
Group failed to provide satisfactory performance to their customers WEH  ZERFP AR ERKBITRE I Z KA R
to whom performance guarantee had been given, such customers RZERAETAMNFIE - AEBEBRBIILEERZE
may demand the banks to pay to them the sum or sum stipulated IRITIELFE - BAOBRREBNAH TER TRER
in such demand. The Group would become liable to compensate B o BABERBERITHERSD -
such banks accordingly. The performance guarantee would be
released upon completion of the contract works. The performance
guarantee was granted under a banking facility.
RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 32. MEEHEENEEZHIE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Non-cash changes
FESEH
As at Share As at
1 April Financing Dividend issue costs 31 March
2017 cash flow declared incurred 2018
R-E—tHF EEERDB RZB-NE
mA—AH MERER CERKRE B{OEA =A=+-—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
(Note) (note 11)
(F=E) (PF=E11)
Dividend payables BRRE = (25,000) 25,000 - -
Prepaid listing expenses TBf EmRX (90) 8,173) = 8,263 =

Note: The cash flows represent the payment of dividend and costs incurred

related to issue of new shares.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Upon passing of an ordinary resolution on 20 September 2017,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) which will remain valid for a period of 5 years
commencing on 16 October 2017. The major terms of the Share
Option Scheme are set out below:

(@) The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the directors and
employees of our Group have made or may make to our
Group;

(b) The participants included any director or employees, of the
Group, which in the opinion of the Company’s board of
directors, has contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of or had made contribution to the
Group;

(c) The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
might be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with
a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders;

(d) In relation to each grantee of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme, the right of the grantee to exercise
the option shall be in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and the period to be notified by the board
of directors of the Company to each grantee which shall not
exceed 10 years from the date upon which the options is
deemed to be granted and accepted;

(e) The exercise price of an option will be determined by the
board of directors of the Company and will not be less than
the highest of:

o The closing price of the share on the date of grant;

. The average closing price of the share for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

. The nominal value of the share.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED) 33. [BRRAESTEI (M)
Share Option Schemes (continued) ISR RERT I (])
() A consideration of HK$10 per grant is payable on ) TCEEMABEZHRLERESEMREI0SR
acceptance of the offer of grant of options. Joke
Details of the share options outstanding under the Share FR o BRETEE T RITENBRERE
Option Scheme and movements during the year were as BB
follows:

Number of share Options

BREHE
Exercise
price Granted
Exercising per share Outstanding at during Outstanding at
Grantee Date of grant period HK$ 1 April 2018 the year 31 March 2019
R=B-N\F R=B-NF
BRITEE mMA—H =A=t-8
FARA BREAH fTfEH BT RITHE FRERE KT
First Tranche
E#
Director
5=
Mr. CL Chan 3 September 3 March 2019 0.385 - 2,000,000 2,000,000
2018  to 3 September
2023
BB —E-N\F ZT-NF
NA=H —A=H%
—E-=F
NA=H
Other employees 3 September 3 March 2019 0.385 - 2,500,000 2,500,000
2018  to 3 September
2023
Hitfg 8 ZE-N\F —Z-NF
NA=H —A=H%
—E-=F
NA=H
Second Tranche
E-#
Director
%
Mr. CL Chan 3 September 3 March 2020 0.385 - 2,000,000 2,000,000
2018  to 3 September
2023
BOER LA —ZT-)N\F —E-TF
NA=H =HA=R%
—TC=F
NA=H
Other employees 3 September 3 March 2020 0.385 - 2,700,000 2,700,000
2018  to 3 September
2023
Hitfg & —Z-N\F —T-TF
NA=H =HR=R%
—ZC=F
NA=H
- 9,200,000 9,200,000
Weighted average exercise price of share options N/A 0.385
FERR A I 1T (E TER
Exercisable at the end of the year - 4,500,000
FRATE
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33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)
Share Option Schemes (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, 9,200,000 options were
granted to director and employees of the Group on 3 September
2018 for the provision of services to the Group. The vesting period
of first tranche of share options is from 3 September 2018 to 3
March 2019 (“First Tranche”). The vesting period of the second
tranche of share options is from 3 September 2018 to 3 March
2020 (“Second Tranche”). The details of the First Tranche
and Second Tranche share options are identical except for the
difference in vesting period as above mentioned. The fair value of
the share options at the date of grant was calculated using the
Binominal Option Pricing Model. The inputs into the valuation of the
share options were as follows:

Share price at grant date HK$0.385
Exercise price HK$0.385
Risk free rate (note a) 2.112%
Expected life (note b) 5 years
Expected volatility (note c) 61.93%
Notes:

@) Risk free rate is determined by reference to the yield of the Hong Kong
Exchange Fund Notes with duration similar to the expected life of the share
option.

(b) Expected life is the exercise period of the share option.

) Expected volatility is estimated by calculating the historical daily share price

volatility of the stock price of the Company.

The fair value of the share option granted on 3 September 2018 is
HK$1,706,448.

In the current year, share option expenses of approximately
HK$1,166,000 was recognised in profit or loss with a
corresponding credit in the Group’s share option reserve.
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34. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 34. BEAXQTHBMRRENER
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries R B A RRIIEE 107,549 107,549
Amount due from a subsidiary e — R E A RIFKIE 29,057 33,112
136,606 140,661
Current assets REEE
Prepayments ARt FIE 305 205
Bank balances and cash RITERRA S 2 12
307 217
Current liabilities RBARG
Accrued charges ExtER 180 111
Net current assets REBEEZFE 127 106
Net assets EEFE 136,733 140,767
Capital reserves ER#E
Share capital &N 4,000 4,000
Reserves #E 132,733 136,767
Equity attributable to owners of the Company <A Bl#H A FE{G i 136,733 140,767
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY ARQEHE
Share
Share Other option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve loss Total
B RE Hitttgs  BRERE 258 et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FHT FHT FHAT FHT
At 5 May 2017 RZZE—+FHARH
(date of incorporation) (FEMASZ B HR) = - - - -
Loss for the period HANE1E - - - (18,334) (18,334)
Reserve arising from BHEEENRE
Reorganisation = 107,549 = = 107,549
Ordinary shares issued BEITERR 47,552 - - - 47 552
At 31 March 2018 RZE—-)\&=ZA=+—H 47,552 107,549 - (18,334) 136,767
Loss for the year FAEE - - - (5,200) (5,200)
Recognition of equity-settled REREER D
share-based payments BEMRR - - 1,166 - 1,166
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE-h&=A=+—H 47,552 107,549 1,166 (23,534) 132,733
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Financial Summary
B A

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-hEF —Z-)N\F —T—+tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT FAT FET
RESULTS S
Revenue Wzs 210,596 193,973 171,116 163,821
Profit before tax FR B A& A 23,474 712 16,065 26,561
Income tax expense A BRI 2 (4,219) (2,858) (2,738) (4,408)
Profit for the year and total comprehensive 7K A T A A JE(LEE
income (expense) for the year attributable A% A1 & 2 & U 2
to owners of the Company (FXZ) 4% 19,255 (2,146) 13,327 22,153

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2019 2018 2017 2016
—B-nEFE 2 N\F —E—tF —ZTRF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FAT FAxT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BENABE
Total assets B E 189,015 166,692 141,372 137,940
Total liabilities BmEE (44,880) (42,889 (41,975) (41,870)
Equity attributable to owners RATGEE AEE#EZ
of the Company 144,135 123,803 99,397 96,070
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